Louisiana State University
LSU Digital Commons

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

6-3-2020

### **Relay Selection Strategies for Multi-hop Cooperative Networks**

Hui Sun Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_dissertations

Part of the Electrical and Computer Engineering Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Sun, Hui, "Relay Selection Strategies for Multi-hop Cooperative Networks" (2020). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 783. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_dissertations/783

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

#### RELAY SELECTION STRATEGIES FOR MULTI-HOP COOPERATIVE NETWORKS

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The School of Electrical Engineering and Computer Sciences

by

Hui Sun

B.Sc., Nanjing University of Posts and Telecommunications, 2008
 M.Sc., Nanjing University of Science and Technology, 2010
 M.Sc., Louisiana State University, 2012
 August 2016

To my family

## Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Morteza Naraghi-Pour, for the professional academic guidance he provided to me, and his patience, confidence and care throughout these years. He encouraged me and pointed out the direction every time I met difficulties. This dissertation would not have been accomplished without his generous support and valuable suggestions.

Also, I would like to express my gratitude to my doctoral committees, Dr. Xuebin Liang, Dr. Shuangqing Wei, Dr. Hsiao-Chun Wu, and Dr. Keri Larson for their kind supports and thoughtful comments. I would also like to thank Dr. Xuebin Liang, Dr. Shuangqing Wei and Dr. Hsiao-Chun Wu for their excellent and professional courses.

I would like to thank Mr. Gabriel De Souza. I gained teaching experience during the work with him as a teaching assistant. Also, I would like to thank all my friends for their warm help.

I would thank my parents who have been always encouraging and supporting me since the first day I started my Ph.D. studies. I would never have the chance to be here without their support.

## Table of Contents

Acknow	ledgments	iii
List of I	Figures	vi
Abstrac	t	vii
Chapter	1: Introduction	1
1.1	Wireless Cooperative Communication	1
1.2	Opportunistic Relay Selection	3
1.3	Multi-hop Relay Networks	5
1.4	Cognitive Radio Networks	8
1.5	Outline of the Dissertation	11
Chapter	· 2: Performance Analysis of a Hop-By-Hop Relay Selection Strategy	
in M	fulti-hop Networks	13
2.1	Introduction	13
2.2	System Model	14
2.3	Outage Probability	15
2.4	Ergodic Capacity	23
	2.4.1 Approximation of the Ergodic Capacity	23
	2.4.2 Approximation of the Effective Ergodic Capacity	25
2.5	Numerical Results	26
Chapter	3: A Novel Hop-By-Hop Relay Selection Strategy for Multi-hop Relay	
Netw	vorks	32
3.1	Introduction	32
3.2	System Model	33
3.3	Outage Probability in the Case of Perfect CSI	35
3.4	Outage Probability in the Presence of CSI Uncertainty	37
3.5	Numerical Results	40
Chapter	4: Decode-and-Forward Relay Selection with Imperfect CSI in Two-	
hop	Cognitive Belay Networks	48
4 1	Introduction	48
4.2	System Model	49
4.3	Outage Probability	-10 -51
4.0 4.4	Interference Probability	55
т.т 45	Numerical Results	57
4.0		51
Chapter	5: Hop-By-Hop Relay Selection in Multi-hop Relay Networks under	01
Spec	trum Sharing Constraint	61 C1
5.1	Introduction	61

<ul> <li>5.2 System Model</li></ul>	62 64 69
Chapter 6: Conclusions	73
References	75
Appendix A: Proof of Lemma 1	82
Appendix B: Proof of Lemma 3	83
Appendix C: Proof of Lemma 5	84
Appendix D: Proof of Lemma 6	85
Appendix E: Proof of Lemma 7	88
Appendix F: Derivation of Equation $(4.18) - (4.19) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	89
Appendix G: Derivation of $P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_R   c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$ when $l > 0$	92
Appendix H: Permission to Use Copyrighted Materials	94
Vita	95

# List of Figures

1.1	Cooperative Relay Network	2
1.2	Proactive Opportunistic Relay Selection.	4
1.3	Reactive Opportunistic Relay Selection.	5
2.1	System Model of Multi-hop Relay Networks	14
2.2	Outage Probability vs. Average SNR with different relay distributions.	27
2.3	Outage Probability vs. different channel gains of last hop	28
2.4	Outage Probability vs. Average SNR with $\rho$	30
2.5	End-to-End Ergodic Capacity vs. Average SNR	31
2.6	End-to-End Effective Ergodic Capacity vs. Average SNR	31
3.1	System Model of Multi-hop Relay Networks	33
3.2	Outage Probability vs. SNR with different relay distributions	42
3.3	Outage Probability vs. SNR in perfect CSI and imperfect CSI cases	44
3.4	Outage Probability vs. $\rho$	44
3.5	Outage Probability vs. SNR with different number of hops	47
4.1	System Model of Two-hop Underlay Spectrum Sharing Cognitive Relay Networks	49
4.2	Outage Probability vs. $d/d_0$ with K=5	58
4.3	Outage Probability vs. $d/d_0$ with $\rho=0.99$	59
4.4	Interference Probability vs. $d/d_0$ with K=5	60
5.1	System Model of Multi-hop Underlay Spectrum Sharing Cognitive Relay Networks	62
5.2	Outage Probability vs. $P_{\text{max}}$ with different maximum tolerance power $I_p$ .	70
5.3	Outage Probability vs. $P_{\max}$ with different number of relays	71
5.4	Outage Probability vs. $I_p$ with different maximum transmit power $P_{\max}.$	72

## Abstract

In this dissertation we consider several relay selection strategies for multi-hop cooperative networks. The relay selection strategies we propose do not require a central controller (CC). Instead, the relay selection is on a hop-by-hop basis. As such, these strategies can be implemented in a distributed manner. Therefore, increasing the number of hops in the network would not increase the complexity or time consumed for the relay selection procedure of each hop.

We first investigate the performance of a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop decode-and-forward (DF) cooperative networks. In each relay cluster, relays that successfully receive and decode the message from the previous hop form a *decoding set* for relaying, and the relay which has the highest signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) link to the next hop is then selected for retransmission. We analyze the performance of this method in terms of end-to-end outage probability, and we derive approximations for the ergodic capacity and the effective ergodic capacity of this strategy.

Next we propose a novel hop-by-hop relay selection strategy where the relay in the decoding set with the largest number of "good" channels to the next stage is selected for retransmission. We analyze the performance of this method in terms of end-toend outage probability in the case of perfect and imperfect channel state information (CSI).

We also investigate relay selection strategies in underlay spectrum sharing cognitive relay networks. We consider a two-hop DF cognitive relay network with a constraint on the interference to the primary user. The outage probability of the secondary user and the interference probability at the primary user are analyzed under imperfect CSI scenario. Finally we introduce a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for underlay spectrum sharing multi-hop relay networks. Relay selection in each stage is only based on the CSI in that hop. It is shown that in terms of outage probability, the performance of this method is nearly optimal.

## Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Wireless Cooperative Communication

The rapid development of wireless communication technologies in the last several decades has profoundly affected people's daily lives. The performance of wireless communication is limited by the propagation characteristic of the wireless channel, which can be further categorized into large-scale fading and small-scale fading [1]. Large-scale fading includes path loss, which is the signal attenuation due to the large distance between transmitter and receiver, and shadowing due to large-scale obstacles in the propagation path. Small-scale fading is mainly caused due to the constructive and destructive addition of multipath signal components arriving at the receiver.

Cooperative relay networks have proven to be an efficient method to overcome the detrimental effects of fading, extend the coverage area, and improve capacity of wireless communication systems [2, 3, 4, 5]. Compared to MIMO systems, cooperative relay networks do not need to employ multiple antennas at transmitter or receiver, and thus, reduce the size of terminals [6, 7]. The basic concept of cooperative relay networks as a three-terminal network was first introduced in [8]. The capacity of relay networks was studied for the first time by Cover and El Gamal in [9]. Based on the three terminal model, a basic cooperative relay network in which a source node transmits information to a destination node with the help of a single half-duplex relay node is shown in Figure 1.1. Transmission from source to destination takes two orthogonal phases. In phase 1, the source transmits its message to the destination, and the relay also receives the information transmitted from the source. In phase 2, the relay transmits the received message to the destination.



FIGURE 1.1. Cooperative Relay Network.

The relaying mechanism can be categorized as fixed relaying, selective DF relaying and incremental relaying [4, 10]. Fixed relaying can be mainly categorized as amplify-and-forward (AF) and decode-and-forward (DF) requiring substantially different amount of processing in the relays [4, 11, 12, 13, 14]. In AF relaying, very little processing in relays is needed. Relays simply amplify the received message, and retransmit the scaled message to the destination. The problem with AF relaying is that the noise is also amplified along with the message and retransmitted to the destination. In DF relaying, relays first decode the received message from the source, and then forward the (re-encoded) message to the destination.

Selective DF relaying and incremental relaying are two methods in adaptive relaying, in which the relays may or may not participate in relaying depending on the channel condition [10]. In selective relaying, whether the relay decodes the received message transmitted from the source and retransmits to the destination is determined by the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) of the source-relay link. If the SNR of the source-relay link is above the SNR threshold, the relay is able to correctly decode the message from the source, and retransmits the message to the destination. Destination can decode the message from the source and the relay by applying maximal ratio combining (MRC). If the SNR of the source-relay link is below the SNR threshold, the relay remains idle [15, 16, 17, 10, 18]. Incremental relaying can be performed if a feedback channel from the destination to the relay is available [4, 19, 20, 21]. Destination receives the message transmitted from the source in phase 1, and notifies the relay if it is able to correctly decode the message. Relay will only transmit the message to the destination in phase 2 if the source-destination transmission in phase 1 has failed.

#### 1.2 Opportunistic Relay Selection

In cooperative relay networks, when there are multiple relays which are willing to forward the received message from the source to the destination, relay selection is a key aspect which directly affects the performance of the network. Among the relay selection strategies in two-hop relay networks, opportunistic relay selection (ORS) proposed by Bletsas [22, 23] is a good scheme for implementation. ORS is a low complexity strategy in which the best relay is selected for retransmitting the message. With this strategy, synchronization among the relays is not needed and power consumption of terminals can be reduced. ORS is based on instantaneous channel conditions to select the best relay for retransmission, which can be performed without the knowledge of global channel state information (CSI) at each relay [24]. More specifically it is assumed that the channel gains between the source and the relays are measured from the request-to-send (RTS) message from the source. Similarly the channel gains between the relays and the destination are measured from the clear-tosend (CTS) message transmitted by the destination. Each relay now starts a timer which is inversely proportional to the end-to-end channel quality. Therefore the relay whose timer expires first has the best end-to-end channel quality. That relay transmits a short "flag" message indicating that it has the best channel and that relay will be the one retransmitting the packet from the source to the destination while all other relays remain silent [24].

In DF relaying mode, ORS can be categorized into proactive DF ORS and reactive DF ORS depending on whether the relay selection is before source transmission or after source transmission [23]. In proactive ORS shown in Figure 1.2, the best relay is selected before the source transmits. The best relay is normally the relay which has the highest SNR bottleneck of the source-relay link and relay-destination link. Once the best relay is selected, the source transmits the message to the selected relay. The selected relay decodes the message and retransmits the re-encoded message to the destination. In reactive ORS in Figure 1.3, the best relay is selected after the source



FIGURE 1.2. Proactive Opportunistic Relay Selection.

transmits. The source first broadcasts the message to all the relays. The relays which are able to correctly decode the message from the source form a decoding set. Among all relays in the decoding set, the relay which has the highest relay-to-destination SNR is considered as the best relay, and is selected for retransmission.

A key challenge in the implementation of the cooperative relay systems is that in a practical system the exact CSI is not available. CSI needs to be estimated at the receivers and fed back to the transmitters. Consequently there are two sources of uncertainty in CSI. First, due to the estimation error there will be a discrepancy between the estimated CSI which is used for relay selection and the actual CSI. Secondly, in



FIGURE 1.3. Reactive Opportunistic Relay Selection.

mobile systems, due to Doppler shifts, the channel coefficients are time-varying. Since some time elapses between channel estimation and relays' transmissions, even in the absence of CSI estimation errors, the CSI available to the relay network is outdated.

There have been several studies dealing with the relay selection problem in the case of imperfect CSI. In [25], the outage probability of DF ORS with outdated CSI is studied and in [26], the effect of outdated CSI on outage of AF relay selection is considered. In [27], the performance of outdated CSI on partial and opportunistic AF relay selection is analyzed. A multiple relay selection strategy for improving the performance of ORS with imperfect CSI is proposed in [28]. And in [29], the effects of imperfect CSI from both source-relay and relay-destination links of ORS, in which relay is selected before source transmission, is investigated.

#### 1.3 Multi-hop Relay Networks

Recent years have witnessed extensive interest in multi-hop relay networks, and a standard, IEEE 802.16J, referred to as Mobile Multi-hop Relay (MMR) has been developed which allows for fixed, nomadic, and mobile relays [30]. Multi-hop networks have the potential to further extend the coverage, enhance the throughput (due to shorter hops), and extend battery life due to lower power transmission. In [31], the

end-to-end outage probability of multi-hop networks over independent Nakagami fading channels is evaluated. The average outage duration of multi-hop communication systems is derived in [32].

In multi-hop relay networks, cooperative diversity can be achieved by employing a number of relays in each hop, and therefore, improving the system performance. However, multi-hop networks require a relay selection strategy and path management and introduce extra delay due to multi-hop relaying. An optimal relay selection strategy was proposed in [33] which requires a central controller (CC) to collect the CSI for all the links in the network. The path which has the highest SNR bottleneck is selected as the best path for transmission. In [34], a relay selection strategy called last-*n*-hop selection was proposed, whereby a CC or a combination of a CC and a distributed protocol is needed.

The complexity of the relay selection protocols that require a CC is very high. The CC must collect the CSI of all the links in order to select the desired path and must inform all the relays along the selected path so that they can participate in relaying the data. Another difficulty is that the CSI of all the links in the network is required before the desired path can be computed. Although several authors have proposed novel channel estimation techniques for multi-hop relay networks [35, 36, 37], obtaining CSI for all the links is a time consuming process. Clearly the channel estimation time as well as the time for end-to-end transmission of the message must not exceed the channel coherence time, or else the estimated CSI used for path selection will be irrelevant. For fast fading channels with a short coherence time, this implies that channel estimation has to be performed very frequently and only a short data segment can be transmitted before another channel estimation is required resulting in diminished system throughput.

Two new relay selection strategies were introduced in [38] and [39] and their outage probabilities were evaluated. In [38] all the relays in a cluster which are able to decode the signal (referred to as the *Decoding Set*) broadcast the signal to the next relay cluster. The relays in this cluster use MRC to decode the message. Requiring all the relays in the decoding set to retransmit the message demands a great deal of channel resources<sup>1</sup> and results in reduced throughput. In addition, this approach increases the hardware complexity of the relays since each relay is required to have multiple RF chains, correlators or matched filters, and an MRC combiner. Moreover, higher power resources are required since instead of a single relay, all the relays in the decoding set must transmit. In [39], a cooperative multi-hop parallel relay network is investigated. This approach is not a hop-by-hop strategy as it requires the CSI of all the links in order to select the best path among a set of parallel paths.

The ad-hoc relay selection strategy proposed in [33] is a low-complexity method in which in each stage, the relay with the highest SNR to the node in the previous hop is selected for retransmission, except that the relay in the last cluster is selected by considering the last two hops together. This approach does not have the drawbacks of strategies described above since the CSI for the links in each hop can be obtained just prior to retransmission and only a single relay will forward the signal. However, compared to the methods discussed above, this approach has significantly lower performance in terms of outage probability.

It can be seen that although relay networks have been the subject of many studies, to date, very few viable relay selection strategies for multi-hop relay networks have been introduced and/or analyzed.

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{Depending}$  on the multi-access scheme, this would be in the form of TDMA slots, FDMA frequency bands, OFDM sub-carriers, etc.

#### 1.4 Cognitive Radio Networks

The overcrowding of the radio spectrum which has created a bottleneck for introduction of new services along with the inefficient use of currently allocated spectrum has prompted the regulatory agencies to seek alternative methods for spectrum access [40, 41]. Cognitive radio networks (CRNs) are envisioned to alleviate this problem by allowing secondary users (SUs) to dynamically access and utilize a frequency band as long as they do not cause harmful interference to primary users (PUs) [42, 43]. This approach is often referred to as dynamic (or opportunistic) spectrum access (DSA). For example, the IEEE 802.22 standard referred to as Wireless Regional Area Network (WRAN) is designed to operate in the TV broadcast frequency bands [44]. It aims at bringing broadband access to hard-to-reach, low population-density areas, typical of rural environments and developing countries.

Three different paradigms for DSA have been studied in recent years which involve different degrees of interaction between the primary and secondary networks; namely interweave, underlay and overlay [45, 46]. Interweave model is proposed based on the original idea of cognitive radios. Licensed spectrum is not fully utilized by PUs, in the interweave model, SUs employ spectrum sensing to detect the presence or absence of the PUs and only transmit if the PUs are absent [43, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52]. On the other hand, both underlay and overlay schemes allow for simultaneous transmissions by the SUs and PUs. In the underlay model, SUs can share the spectrum with the PUs as long as the interference they cause to the PUs remains below a predefined threshold [53]. In the overlay model, non-causal/causal knowledge of the PU message and/or the codebook at the SUs is used to mitigate or cancel the interference at SUs [54]. Among these paradigms for DSA, the underlay model is considered to be an efficient transmission scheme for spectrum sharing without a great deal of system complexity.

Since the radios in a secondary underlay network must not cause undue interference to the primary user, they are expected to practice stringent power control requiring hard limits on their transmit power. In such cases multi-hop relay networks are well suited to carry the message from the source to the destination with low transmit powers using the relay nodes. Some authors have investigated the problem of cognitive spectrum sharing relay networks. In [55] the outage performance of cognitive relay network under spectrum-sharing constraint is investigated. In [56] the end-to-end signal-to-interference plus noise ratio is used for relay selection. The exact outage probability of an underlay spectrum sharing relay network over non-identical Rayleigh fading channels is derived in [57]. In [58] the authors evaluate the outage performance of the relay system where it is shown that due to the interference power constraint, the received SNRs are dependent. Joint relay selection and power allocation is studied in [59] to maximize the system throughput with a constraint on the interference caused to the PU. In [60] the outage performance of the relay network is evaluated taking into account the interference from the PU to SU network, the interference from the SU to PU network and the dependence resulting from the interference constraint. In [61] the authors evaluate the outage probability in the relay system under two different constraints: the peak interference power at the PU, and the peak interference power at the PU and the maximum transmit power at the SU-source and SU-relays. And in [62], the outage performance of two-hop multiuser and multirelay networks underlay spectrum sharing is investigated.

Multi-hop underlay cognitive spectrum sharing systems have also been investigated in [63, 64, 65, 66, 67]. In [63], outage probability of a cognitive radio based multihop network with underlay paradigm is derived. The outage probability, bit error rate, symbol error rate and ergodic capacity of underlay cognitive multi-hop regenerative relaying systems with multiple primary receivers in independent, non-identically distributed Nakagami-m fading channels are derived in [64]. In [65], the outage probability of a cognitive multi-hop relay network under multiple primary users interference is studied, in which both non-identical fading parameters as well as signal to interference plus noise ratio statistics are considered. In [66], closed-form and asymptotic expressions for the outage probability of cognitive multi-hop relay networks over Nakagami-m fading channels in the presence of multiple primary transmitters and receivers are derived. The exact outage probability and bit error rate, and approximate expressions for ergodic capacity of spectrum sharing-based multi-hop DF relay networks in non-identical Rayleigh fading channels are derived in [67].

Since protection of PUs is of utmost importance, the imperfect CSI problem is more significant in spectrum sharing networks [68, 69, 70, 71]. In the underlay paradigm, the transmit power is determined by the CSI between SU transmitters (source and relays) and PU receiver so that the interference to PU remains below a predefined threshold. If the CSI is outdated, this interference constraint may be violated. In [68], the capacity gains of opportunistic spectrum sharing channels in a Rayleigh fading environment with imperfect CSI is analyzed. By considering peak interference power constraint and maximum SU transmit power constraint, a closed-form expression for the mean SU capacity in cognitive radio systems with imperfect CSI is derived [69]. In [70], the impact of imperfect CSI on the partial relay selection in AF relaying cooperative communications systems is studied. By considering interference power constraints, imperfect CSI, and interference from PU transmitter, the performance of SU is investigated in [71].

In multi-hop underlay cognitive spectrum sharing networks, relay selection strategies of multi-hop networks are not applicable to underlay spectrum sharing cognitive networks since the interference to the primary user is of paramount concern. The relay selection strategies which require the CSI of the links in several (or all of the) hops in the network may cause interference to the primary user well beyond the specified threshold. Therefore, hop-by-hop relay selection strategies should be much preferable for multi-hop underlay cognitive spectrum sharing networks.

#### 1.5 Outline of the Dissertation

In Chapter 2, we analyze the performance of a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop DF cooperative relay networks. In each relay cluster, relays that successfully receive and decode the message from the previous hop form the candidate set for relaying, and the relay which has the highest channel gain to the next stage is selected for retransmission. Therefore in this method, a CC is not required, and relay selection of each relay cluster is only based on the CSI to the next hop. We evaluate the performance of this relay selection method in terms of end-to-end outage probability through analysis and simulation. Accurate approximations for the ergodic capacity and effective ergodic capacity of this relay selection strategy are also derived.

In Chapter 3, a novel hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop DF cooperative relay networks is proposed where relay selection at each hop is only based on the CSI to relays in the next stage. In each stage, relays that successfully receive and decode the message from the previous stage form the candidate set for relaying, and among them, the relay with the largest number of "good" channels to the next stage is selected for retransmission. We analyze the performance of the proposed method in terms of end-to-end outage probability for the cases of perfect and imperfect CSI. Numerical results from analysis closely match those obtained from simulation.

In Chapter 4, we consider cognitive relay networks with imperfect CSI under interference power constraint. Reactive DF and ORS are assumed whereby SU relays that successfully receive and decode the message from the SU source form the candidate set for relaying, and the best relay among them is selected to retransmit to the SU destination. We investigate the performance of DF-ORS in terms of outage probability of the SU and the interference probability at the PU. In order to allow the secondary network to back-off its peak transmit power, two power margin factors are considered for the SU source and relays. Numerical results show that with the proper selection of the power margin factors the desired values of outage and interference probabilities can be achieved.

In Chapter 5, we introduce a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop underlay cognitive spectrum sharing systems. In each stage, relays that successfully decode the message from previous hop form a candidate set. Each relay in this candidate set calculates its available transmit power and evaluates its instantaneous SNR to relays in the next stage. Then one relay which has the largest number of channels with an acceptable SNR level to relays in the next stage is selected for retransmission. Therefore, relay selection is only based on the CSI of the channels of one hop. This strategy can be implemented in a distributed manner, and a CC is not required. We analyze the performance of the introduced strategy in terms of end-to-end outage probability, and show that the results match those obtained from simulation closely.

Finally, the conclusions are given in Chapter 6.

## Chapter 2

## Performance Analysis of a Hop-By-Hop Relay Selection Strategy in Multi-hop Networks

#### 2.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we introduce and evaluate the performance of a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop DF networks which does not require a CC. For each relay cluster the relay selection is only based on the CSI of the channels to the next stage. In each relay cluster, relays that successfully receive and decode the message from the previous hop form a decoding set for relaying, and the best relay among them is then selected for retransmission to the next hop. We analyze the performance of this relay selection method in terms of end-to-end outage probability, and show that the results closely match those from simulations. Approximations for the ergodic capacity and effective ergodic capacity are also derived which closely match the simulation results.

Notations: Our notations and some of our modeling assumptions for this chapter are introduced here. S, RC<sub>m</sub>, and D refer to source, relay cluster m, and destination, respectively.  $h_{A,B}^{(m)}$  and  $\gamma_{A,B}^{(m)}$  denote the instantaneous CSI and the instantaneous SNR of link A  $\rightarrow$  B of hop m, respectively.  $\mathcal{CN}(\mu, \sigma^2)$  denotes the circularly symmetric complex Gaussian distribution with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ . The transmit power of each node is denoted by  $P_s$  and for each hop m, all channel coefficients are assumed to be independent and identically distributed (*iid*). Moreover,  $h_{A,B}^{(m)} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \lambda_m)$ , and denote  $g_{A,B}^{(m)} \triangleq |h_{A,B}^{(m)}|^2$ . The noise random variable at receiver B is denoted by  $n_B$  and the noise variables at all receivers are assumed to be *iid* with  $n_B \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_n^2)$ . We denote  $X_{1\sim n} \triangleq (X_1, X_2, \cdots, X_n)$ . An event such as  $\{X_1 < T, X_2 < T, \cdots, X_n < T\}$ is denoted as  $\{X_{1\sim n} < T\}$ . Finally the cardinality of the set  $\mathcal{D}$  is denoted by  $c(\mathcal{D})$ .

#### 2.2 System Model

As shown in Figure 2.1, we consider a multi-hop wireless relay network consisting of one source (S), one destination (D) and M relay clusters ( $\mathrm{RC}_m, m = 1, \dots, M$ ) in between the source and destination. Each relay cluster  $\mathrm{RC}_m$  includes  $L_m$  singleantenna half-duplex relay nodes. There are totally M + 1 hops (from hop 0 to hop M) from S to D. We denote the first hop from S to  $\mathrm{RC}_1$  as hop 0,  $\mathrm{RC}_1$  to  $\mathrm{RC}_2$  as hop 1, and so on. Moreover to simplify our discussion we use the convention that  $\mathrm{RC}_{M+1}$ denotes the destination D.



FIGURE 2.1. System Model of Multi-hop Relay Networks.

The instantaneous SNR of link  $A \to B$  at hop m is given by

$$\gamma_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} = P_s |h_{\rm A,B}^{(m)}|^2 / \sigma_n^2 = \bar{\gamma} g_{\rm A,B}^{(m)}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $\bar{\gamma} \triangleq P_s / \sigma_n^2$ . We have

$$P(\gamma_{A,B}^{(m)} < x) = P(g_{A,B}^{(m)} < \frac{x}{\bar{\gamma}}) = 1 - e^{-\frac{x}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}$$
(2.2)

All the relays are assumed to use the DF relaying protocol. The relay selection strategy is as follows. In the first hop, S broadcasts its signal to the first relay cluster (RC<sub>1</sub>). In any stage  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M$ , the relays in RC<sub>m</sub> which are able to correctly

decode the information from the previous stage form a decoding set denoted by  $\mathcal{D}_m$ . Using a pilot or training sequence, each relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  obtains estimates of its channel coefficients to the relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ . Then each relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  calculates its maximum channel gain to all the relays in  $RC_{m+1}$  and starts a timer inversely proportional to its maximum gain. The relay whose timer expires first has the largest channel gain among all the links from relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ . This relay will retransmit the message. All the other relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  will hear this transmission and will not transmit<sup>1</sup>. For any hop m between relay clusters  $\mathrm{RC}_m$  and  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$   $(m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1)$ ,  $l_m = c(\mathcal{D}_m)$ , there are  $l_m L_{m+1}$  links between  $l_m$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  and the  $L_{m+1}$  relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ . Among the  $l_m$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , we select the relay which has the link with the highest instantaneous SNR among all these  $l_m L_{m+1}$  links to retransmit the message. For the last hop between  $\mathrm{RC}_M$  and D, each relay candidate in  $\mathcal{D}_M$  evaluates its channel coefficient to D, and the one which has highest instantaneous SNR to D is selected to retransmit. It can be seen that in this method, relay selection and transmission is on a hop-by-hop basis. In the following we evaluate the end-to-end outage probability and approximations for the ergodic capacity and effective ergodic capacity of this relay selection method.

#### 2.3 Outage Probability

For  $n = 1, 2, \dots, M$  let  $\mathcal{O}_n = \{c(\mathcal{D}_n) = 0\}$ , i.e.,  $\mathcal{O}_n$  is the event that no relay in the *n*th cluster can decode the message, and  $\mathcal{O}_{M+1}$  is the event that destination D cannot decode the message. Then for the end-to-end outage event  $\mathcal{O}$  we can write

$$P(\mathcal{O}) = P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n) \tag{2.3}$$

Denote by  $\mathcal{R}$  the required end-to-end spectral efficiency in bps/Hz. Then for  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M, \mathcal{D}_m$  consists of those relays whose link capacity from the previous stage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that this strategy does not require any communication among the relays in a given cluster or a CC.

exceeds  $\mathcal{R}$ , that is,

$$\mathcal{D}_m = \{j : \frac{1}{M+1} \log_2(1+\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m-1)}) \ge \mathcal{R}\} = \{j : \gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m-1)} \ge 2^{(M+1)\mathcal{R}} - 1\}$$
(2.4)

where  $\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(0)} \triangleq \gamma_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)}$  is the SNR from S to Relay j in RC<sub>1</sub>, and for  $m = 2, 3, \dots, M$ ,  $\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m-1)}$  is the SNR from selected relay  $i^*$  in  $\mathcal{D}_{m-1}^2$  to relay j in RC<sub>m</sub>. In the following we denote  $T \triangleq 2^{(M+1)\mathcal{R}} - 1$ . Now we can write

$$P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n) = \sum_{l_1=0}^{L_1} P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$$
$$= P(\mathcal{O}_1) + \sum_{l_1=1}^{L_1} P(\bigcup_{n=2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$$
(2.5)

Clearly,  $P(\mathcal{O}_1) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_0}})^{L_1}$ . Moreover, we can calculate the probability that there are  $l_1$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_1$ , which is

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) = {\binom{L_1}{l_1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_0}})^{L_1 - l_1} (e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_0}})^{l_1}$$
(2.6)

Now we consider  $P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for any  $1 \le m \le M - 1$ . For  $1 \le l_m \le L_m$ , we have

$$P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= \sum_{l_{m+1}=0}^{L_{m+1}} P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}, c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$\times P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$+ \sum_{l_{m+1}=1}^{L_{m+1}} P(\bigcup_{n=m+2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}) P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) \quad (2.7)$$

Note that in the above

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 0|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
(2.8)

 $<sup>^2 \</sup>rm Which$  has the highest channel gain or SNR to the relays in  $\rm RC_m.$ 

Therefore we need to evaluate  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for  $1 \le m \le M$ , and  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for  $1 \le m \le M - 1$ .

For  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1$ ,  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  is the probability that from the selected relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , all  $L_{m+1}$  links are in outage. According to the relay selection strategy, the link which has the highest instantaneous SNR among all  $l_m L_{m+1}$  links from  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  is among these  $L_{m+1}$  links from the selected relay. This is equivalent to the fact that the SNR of all  $l_m L_{m+1}$  links from  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  are below the threshold T. Therefore,

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
  
=  $P(\max_{i \in \mathcal{D}_m, j \in \mathrm{RC}_{m+1}} \gamma_{i,j}^{(m)} < T | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}$  (2.9)

Similarly, since for the last hop (when m = M), the selected relay in  $\mathcal{D}_M$  which has the highest instantaneous SNR among  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$  links is selected for retransmission, we have

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{M+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M)$$
  
=  $P(\max_{i\in\mathcal{D}_M}\{\gamma_{i,\mathrm{D}}^{(M)}\} < T|c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\gamma\lambda_M}})^{l_M}$  (2.10)

To calculate  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$ , we first consider the case when  $l_m = 1$ . When  $l_m = 1$ , there is only a single relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , that relay would retransmit to next hop. Similar to (2.6), we have

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = 1) = \binom{L_{m+1}}{l_{m+1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1} - l_{m+1}} (e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_{m+1}}$$
(2.11)

When  $2 \leq l_m \leq L_m$ , we would discuss several cases according to different values of  $l_{m+1}$ . Denote  $A_{i^*,j^*}^{l_m}$  as the event that link  $i^* \to j^*$  is the link which has highest SNR among all the links from  $l_m$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to  $L_{m+1}$  relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ . For notational convenience, and without loss of generality we assume that  $j^* = L_{m+1}$ . That is, we

assume that the link from Relay  $i^*$  in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to Relay  $L_{m+1}$  in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  has the highest SNR at hop m. Note that since all the channels at hop m are *iid*, all the nodes  $j \in \mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  are equally likely to belong to the highest SNR link. Let

$$\Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l,L) \triangleq \max\{\gamma_{i,j}^{(m)}; i=1,\cdots,l, j=1,\cdots,L\}$$

The details of our derivations are given below.

When  $2 \leq l_m \leq L_m$  and  $l_{m+1} = 1$ , among all  $L_{m+1}$  links from the selected relay to relays in RC<sub>m+1</sub>, only a single link is not in outage. This is the link which has the highest SNR among all  $l_m L_{m+1}$  links. The remaining  $L_{m+1} - 1$  links from the selected relay are all in outage. The following lemma whose proof is given in Appendix A is used to derive the result in this case.

**Lemma 1.** Given N random variables  $X_1, X_2, \dots, X_N$  which are iid, let  $X_{max} \triangleq \max\{X_1, X_2, \dots, X_N\}$ . Then for  $1 \le n < N$ ,

$$P(X_{1 \sim n} < y | X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max}) = \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} < y) - \frac{n}{N} P(X_{max} < y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$
(2.12)

Theorem 2.

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 1 | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
  
= 
$$\frac{l_m L_{m+1} [(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}-1} - (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}]}{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + 1}$$
(2.13)

Proof. We can write

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 1 | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= P(\gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T, \gamma_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{(m)} > T | A_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{l_m})$$

$$= P(\gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T | A_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{l_m}) - P(\gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T, \gamma_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{(m)} < T | A_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{l_m})$$

$$(2.14)$$

For the second term in (2.14) we have

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T, \gamma_{i^*,L_{m+1}}^{(m)} < T | A_{i^*,L_{m+1}}^{l_m})$$
  
=  $P(\Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}) < T) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}$  (2.15)

Moreover, according to Lemma 1, we have

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T | A_{i^*,L_{m+1}}^{l_m})$$

$$= P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T | \gamma_{i^*,1\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m,L_{m+1}))$$

$$= \frac{l_m L_{m+1}}{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + 1} P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T)$$

$$- \frac{L_{m+1} - 1}{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + 1} P(\Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m,L_{m+1}) < T)$$
(2.16)

in which

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T) = (1 - e^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}-1}$$
(2.17)

and where we have used the fact that

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1})) = \frac{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + 1}{l_m L_{m+1}}$$
(2.18)

Putting (2.14)-(2.17) together we get (2.13).

When  $2 \leq l_m \leq L_m$  and  $2 \leq l_{m+1} = L_{m+1}$ , the link which has the highest SNR is not in outage, and all the links from the selected relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to the other relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ are not in outage either. That is, all the links from selected relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  are not in outage. We first discuss a special scenario that  $l_{m+1} = L_{m+1} = 2$ . Using Lemma 1 it can be shown that

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} > T | \gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))$$

$$= 1 - P(\gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} < T | \gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))$$

$$= 1 - \frac{l_m L_{m+1}(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}) - (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}}{l_m L_{m+1} - 1}$$
(2.19)

Letting  $L_{m+1} = 2$  in (2.19) we can get

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 2|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
  
=  $P(\gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} > T, \gamma_{i^*,2}^{(m)} > T|A_{i^*,2}^{l_m})$   
=  $P(\gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} > T|\gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, 2))$   
=  $1 - \frac{2l_m(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}) - (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{2l_m}}{2l_m - 1}$  (2.20)

We now consider the case that  $2 < l_{m+1} = L_{m+1}$ . To derive

 $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$ , we introduce the following recursive lemma whose proof is given in Appendix B.

**Lemma 3.** Given N iid random variables  $X_1, X_2, \dots, X_N$ , let  $X_{max} \triangleq \max\{X_1, X_2, \dots, X_N\}$ . Then for 1 < n < N, we have

$$P(X_{1\sim n} > y | X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}) = \frac{P(X_{1\sim n} > y) - \frac{n}{N} P(X_{1\sim n-1} > y | X_{1\sim n-1} \neq X_{max})}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$
(2.21)

**Theorem 4.** The probability  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = L_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  can be calculated as

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = L_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
  
=  $P(\gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} > T, \gamma_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{(m)} > T | A_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{l_m})$   
=  $P(\gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} > T | \gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))$  (2.22)

where (2.22) is evaluated recursively for any  $2 \leq l' \leq L_{m+1} - 1$ , from

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'}^{(m)} > T|\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))$$

$$= \frac{l_m L_{m+1}(e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l'} - l' P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'-1}^{(m)} > T|\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))}{l_m L_{m+1} - l'}$$
(2.23)

*Proof.* Proof of (2.23) follows from Lemma 3, where for l' = 2 the initial term of the recursion is given in (2.19).

When  $2 \leq l_m \leq L_m$  and  $2 \leq l_{m+1} < L_{m+1}$ , the highest SNR link from the selected relay is not in outage. In addition,  $l_{m+1} - 1$  links from the selected relay are not in outage, while the remaining  $L_{m+1} - l_{m+1}$  links are in outage. As before we assume that the link from Relay  $i^*$  in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  to Relay  $L_{m+1}$  in RC<sub>m+1</sub> is the highest SNR link at hop m. Consider the event that among the remaining  $L_{m+1} - 1$  relays in RC<sub>m+1</sub>, Relays  $\{1, 2, \dots, l_{m+1} - 1\}$  are able to decode the message, while Relays  $\{l_{m+1}, l_{m+1} + 1, \dots, L_{m+1} - 1\}$  are not. For these  $L_{m+1} - 1$  relays, this is only one of the combinations which results in  $l_{m+1} - 1$  relays out of  $L_{m+1} - 1$  being able to correctly decode the message. Totally, there are  $\binom{L_{m+1}-1}{l_{m+1}-1}$  combinations with all the events having the same probability. Therefore we get

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= \binom{L_{m+1} - 1}{l_{m+1} - 1} P(\gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim l_{m+1} - 1}^{(m)} > T, \gamma_{i^*, l_{m+1} \sim L_{m+1} - 1}^{(m)} < T, \gamma_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{(m)} > T | A_{i^*, L_{m+1}}^{l_m})$$

$$= \binom{L_{m+1} - 1}{l_{m+1} - 1}$$

$$\times P(\gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim l_{m+1} - 1}^{(m)} > T, \gamma_{i^*, l_{m+1} \sim L_{m+1} - 1}^{(m)} < T | \gamma_{i^*, 1 \sim L_{m+1} - 1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1})) \quad (2.24)$$

For the case of  $l_{m+1} = 2$ , the probability in (2.24) is obtained from

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)} > T, \gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T|\gamma_{i^*,1}^{(m)}, \gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))$$

$$= P(\gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T|\gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))$$

$$= \frac{l_m L_{m+1}(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}-l_{m+1}} - (L_{m+1} - l_{m+1})(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}}{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + l_{m+1}}$$

$$- \frac{l_m L_{m+1}(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}-l_{m+1}+1} - (L_{m+1} - l_{m+1} + 1)(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}}{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + l_{m+1} - 1}$$
(2.25)

Then the final result for  $l_{m+1} = 2$  is given as

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 2|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= \frac{(L_{m+1} - 1)l_m L_{m+1} (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1} - 2} - (L_{m+1} - 2)(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}}{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + 2}$$

$$- \frac{(L_{m+1} - 1)l_m L_{m+1} (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1} - 1} - (L_{m+1} - 1)(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}}{l_m L_{m+1} - L_{m+1} + 1}$$
(2.26)

For the case of  $2 < l_{m+1} < L_{m+1}$ , we evaluate the probability in (2.24) recursively using the following lemma whose proof is given in Appendix C.

Lemma 5. Given N random variables  $X_1, X_2, \dots, X_N$  which are iid, let  $X_{max} \triangleq \max\{X_1, X_2, \dots, X_N\}$ . Let  $1 < n \leq N_a < N_b < N$ . Then  $P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_a+1\sim N_b} < y | X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_a+1\sim N_b} \neq X_{max})$  can be recursively calculated from

$$P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y | X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$-\frac{\frac{n}{N}P(X_{1\sim n-1} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y | X_{1\sim n-1} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})}$$
(2.27)

For any  $2 \leq l' \leq l_{m+1} - 1$ , the recursion is given in

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'}^{(m)} > T, \gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T|\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'}^{(m)}, \gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))$$

$$= \frac{l_m L_{m+1}(1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}-l_{m+1}}(e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l'}}{l_m L_{m+1} - (l' + L_{m+1} - l_{m+1})}$$

$$- \frac{l' P(\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'-1}^{(m)} > T, \gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} < T|\gamma_{i^*,1\sim l'-1}^{(m)}, \gamma_{i^*,l_{m+1}\sim L_{m+1}-1}^{(m)} \neq \Gamma_{\max}^{(m)}(l_m, L_{m+1}))}{l_m L_{m+1} - (l' + L_{m+1} - l_{m+1})}$$

$$(2.28)$$

The initial condition for the recursion in (2.28) corresponding to l' = 1 is given in (2.25).

#### 2.4 Ergodic Capacity

In this section we derive approximations for the end-to-end ergodic capacity and the effective ergodic capacity of the multi-hop relay selection strategy.

#### 2.4.1 Approximation of the Ergodic Capacity

To evaluate the end-to-end ergodic capacity of the relay system, we need to evaluate the CDF of the end-to-end SNR. However, the computation of ergodic capacity from the CDF of the end-to-end SNR is mathematically intractable. Therefore, we evaluate an approximation for the end-to-end ergodic capacity. The numerical results in Section 2.5 show that the approximation is tight.

Let  $i_m^*$  denote the relay selected in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  in cluster  $\mathrm{RC}_m$   $(m = 1, \dots, M)$  for retransmission. Then, the CDF of  $\gamma_{\mathrm{S},i_1^*}^{(0)}$  is given by

$$F_{\gamma_{\mathrm{S},i_1}^{(0)}}(t) = (1 - e^{-\frac{t-T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_0}})u(t-T)$$
(2.29)

Furthermore, given that  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$ , the conditional CDF of  $\gamma_{i_M,D}^{(M)}$  is given by

$$F_{\gamma_{i_{M}^{*}, D}^{(M)}}(t|c(\mathcal{D}_{M}) = l_{M}) = (1 - e^{-\frac{t}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}})^{l_{M}}$$
(2.30)

In addition, we need the CDF of  $\gamma_{i_m^*, i_{m+1}^*}^{(m)}$  for  $m = 1, \dots, M-1$  to evaluate end-to-end ergodic capacity. Unfortunately the computation of the end-to-end ergodic capacity based on the CDFs above is not mathematically tractable. Therefore we assume that the Relay  $i_m$  is randomly selected among all the relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , and use  $\gamma_{i_m, i_{m+1}}^{(m)}$ , the SNR of the link  $i_m \to i_{m+1}$ , instead of  $\gamma_{i_m^*, i_{m+1}^*}^{(m)}$ , the SNR of link  $i_m^* \to i_{m+1}^*$ . The CDF of  $\gamma_{i_m, i_{m+1}}^{(m)}$  is given by

$$F_{\gamma_{i_m,i_{m+1}}^{(m)}}(t) = (1 - e^{-\frac{t-T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})u(t-T)$$
(2.31)

With the above assumption, the CDF of the end-to-end SNR,  $\Gamma$ , given that  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$ , is given by

$$F_{\Gamma}(t|c(\mathcal{D}_{M}) = l_{M})$$

$$= 1 - P(\min(\gamma_{S,i_{1}}^{(0)}, \gamma_{i_{m},i_{m+1}}^{(m)}, \gamma_{i_{M-1},i_{M}}^{(M-1)}, \gamma_{i_{M},D}^{(M)}) > t|c(\mathcal{D}_{M}) = l_{M})$$

$$= (1 - e^{-\frac{t}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}})^{l_{M}} + (1 - e^{-\frac{t-T}{\bar{\gamma}}\sum_{m=0}^{M-1}\frac{1}{\lambda_{m}}})[1 - (1 - e^{-\frac{t}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}})^{l_{M}}]u(t - T) \qquad (2.32)$$

The end-to-end capacity is defined as  $C = \frac{1}{M+1} \log_2(1+\Gamma)$ . Therefore, the conditional CDF of C is given by

$$F_{C}(y|c(\mathcal{D}_{M}) = l_{M}) = F_{\Gamma}(2^{(M+1)y} - 1|c(\mathcal{D}_{M}) = l_{M})$$
  
$$= (1 - e^{-\frac{2^{(M+1)y} - 1}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}})^{l_{M}} + (1 - e^{-\frac{2^{(M+1)y} - 1 - T}{\bar{\gamma}}\sum_{m=0}^{M-1}\frac{1}{\lambda_{m}}})$$
  
$$\times [1 - (1 - e^{-\frac{2^{(M+1)y} - 1}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}})^{l_{M}}]u(y - \mathcal{R})$$
(2.33)

where, as mentioned before,  $\mathcal{R} = \frac{1}{M+1} \log_2(1+T)$ . Using integration by parts, and after some manipulations, the approximation on the end-to-end ergodic capacity, given that  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$ , can be expressed as

$$\overline{C}_{\{\text{approx}|l_{M}\}} = \sum_{k=1}^{l_{M}} {\binom{l_{M}}{k}} (-1)^{k} e^{\frac{k}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}} \frac{1}{(M+1)\ln 2} \times \left[ -E_{1}(\frac{k}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}) + E_{1}(\frac{k(T+1)}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}) - e^{\frac{T+1}{\bar{\gamma}}(\sum_{i=0}^{M-1}\frac{1}{\lambda_{i}})} E_{1}(\frac{1}{\bar{\gamma}}(\sum_{i=0}^{M-1}\frac{1}{\lambda_{i}} + \frac{k}{\lambda_{M}})(T+1)) \right]$$
(2.34)

where  $E_1(z)$  is the exponential integral function defined as  $E_1(z) = \int_z^\infty \frac{e^{-t}}{t} dt$ .

The probability of the event  $\{c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M\}$  can be computed from

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
  
=  $\sum_{l_{m-1}=1}^{L_{m-1}} P(c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m | c(\mathcal{D}_{m-1}) = l_{m-1}) P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m-1}) = l_{m-1})$  (2.35)

where  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$  and  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m | c(\mathcal{D}_{m-1}) = l_{m-1})$  for any m  $(1 < m \leq M)$ were derived previously. Now the approximation on the end-to-end ergodic capacity can be obtained from

$$\bar{C}_{\text{approx}} = \sum_{l_M=1}^{L_M} P(c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M) \bar{C}_{\{\text{approx}|l_M\}}$$
(2.36)

#### 2.4.2 Approximation of the Effective Ergodic Capacity

In the above we derived an approximation  $\bar{C}_{approx}$  on the end-to-end ergodic capacity. However, it is possible that the transmission from the last Relay  $i_M^*$  to D fails, and no reliable information is delivered to D. The computation of  $\bar{C}_{approx}$  does not exclude this scenario. Therefore, we adopt the concept of effective ergodic capacity, which is defined as the average spectral efficiency for end-to-end successful transmissions [72]. Since  $\mathcal{R} = \frac{1}{M+1} \log_2(1+T)$  is the spectral efficiency required to successfully decode the message, the average effective ergodic capacity is calculated within the range of  $[\mathcal{R}, \infty)$  instead of  $[0, \infty)$ . Therefore, only successful end-to-end transmissions are included in the calculation. The approximation for the end-to-end effective ergodic capacity, given that  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$ , can be expressed as

$$\bar{C}_{\{\text{approx}|l_{M}\}}^{\text{eff}} = \int_{y=\mathcal{R}}^{\infty} y \ dF_{C}(y|c(\mathcal{D}_{M}) = l_{M}) \\
= \mathcal{R}[1 - (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}})^{l_{M}}] \\
- \frac{1}{(M+1)\ln 2} e^{\frac{T+1}{\bar{\gamma}}(\sum_{i=0}^{M-1}\frac{1}{\lambda_{i}})} \sum_{k=1}^{l_{M}} {\binom{l_{M}}{k}} (-1)^{k} e^{\frac{k}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{M}}} E_{1}(\frac{1}{\bar{\gamma}}(\sum_{i=0}^{M-1}\frac{1}{\lambda_{i}} + \frac{k}{\lambda_{M}})(T+1)) \\$$
(2.37)

Finally, the approximation on the end-to-end effective ergodic capacity is obtained from

$$\bar{C}_{\text{approx}}^{\text{eff}} = \sum_{l_M=1}^{L_M} P(c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M) \bar{C}_{\{\text{approx}|l_M\}}^{\text{eff}}$$
(2.38)

#### 2.5 Numerical Results

In this section we present our numerical results from analysis and compare to those obtained from simulation. Moreover, we compare the proposed hop-by-hop relay selection strategy to optimal and ad-hoc relay selection strategies in [33] in terms of outage probability.

In Figure 2.2, we show the outage probability vs. average  $SNR^3$  for the case that M = 3 (4 hops),  $\sigma_n^2$  = 1,  $\lambda_m$  = 1, and a target rate of C = 2/(M+1) bps/Hz. We compare the outage probability of hop-by-hop relay selection strategy with the results from optimal and ad-hoc strategies. As expected, under the same relay distribution  $(L_1, L_2, L_3)$ , optimal relay selection strategy has the lowest outage probability, and hop-by-hop relay selection strategy outperforms ad-hoc relay selection strategy. It can be seen that for hop-by-hop relay selection strategy, as we increase the number of relays in the first and last clusters the performance improves significantly. This effect can be explained in terms of the number of links available for each hop. In particular, in the first hop the diversity order is  $L_1$ , while in last hop it is  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$ . For any hop m between two relay clusters, the link with the highest SNR among  $l_m L_{m+1}$  links is selected. When all relay clusters have the same number of relays, it can be seen that from the source to destination, the last hop is the bottleneck hop, followed by the first hop which is the second bottleneck. Therefore, increasing the number of relays in clusters  $\mathrm{RC}_1$  and  $\mathrm{RC}_M$  can improve the performance. In contrast, ad-hoc relay selection strategy does not have this characteristic. Even if we do not consider the last two hops, for any hop m excepting the last two hops, ad-hoc relay selection strategy selects the link with the highest SNR among  $L_{m+1}$  links. When  $L_{m+1}$  varies with m, the hop with the smallest number of links becomes the bottleneck hop. Increasing the number of relays in the first and last clusters will not only decrease, but rather

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Average SNR is defined as  $10 \log(P_s \lambda_m / \sigma_n^2)$ .

increase the outage probability. Moreover, we can see that hop-by-hop relay selection strategy with  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (6, 2, 7)$  outperforms optimal relay selection strategy with  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (5, 5, 5)$ . Finally, the results from analysis closely match those from simulation verifying the accuracy of our analysis.



FIGURE 2.2. Outage Probability vs. Average SNR with different relay distributions.

As mentioned previously, when the clusters have the same number of relays, the bottleneck of hop-by-hop strategy is in the last hop, since the diversity order of the last hop is  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$ . As mentioned in [33] that for optimal relay selection, the first hop and the last hop are the main constraints for outage probability. In Figure 2.3, we consider  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (5, 5, 5)$ , and  $\lambda_m = \lambda$  for  $m = 0, \dots, M - 1$ , where M = 3. We then plot the outage probability vs.  $10 \log(\lambda_M/\lambda)$ . As we can see in the figure, as  $\lambda_M$  increases, the outage probability of hop-by-hop strategy approaches that of the optimal strategy. That shows that when the channel gains (or average SNR) of the last hop increases, the hop-by-hop strategy can achieve the same performance as the optimal strategy. The figure also shows that the ad-hoc strategy cannot achieve the same performance even for large channel gains in the last hop.


FIGURE 2.3. Outage Probability vs. different channel gains of last hop.

A key challenge in the implementation of the cooperative relay systems is that in a practical system the exact CSI is not available. In mobile systems, the channel coefficients are time-varying due to Doppler shifts. That is, the CSI collected for relay selection may be different from the instantaneous CSI at the instant of relay transmissions. This affects the system performance. Denote by  $\tilde{h}_{A,B}^{(m)}$  the CSI at relay selection time, and by  $h_{A,B}^{(m)}$  the CSI at relay transmission time. According to [73], to model the channel state information uncertainty, we adopt a first-order autoregressive model given by

$$h_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} = \rho \tilde{h}_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} + \sqrt{1 - \rho^2} w_{\rm A,B}^{(m)}$$
(2.39)

where  $w_{A,B}^{(m)} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \lambda_m)$  is independent of  $h_{A,B}^{(m)}$ .

The parameter  $\rho$  is the correlation coefficient between  $\tilde{h}_{A,B}^{(m)}$  and  $h_{A,B}^{(m)}$ , which can be determined from Jakes' model, [74], namely  $\rho = J_0(2\pi f_d T_d)$ , where  $f_d$  is the Doppler frequency and  $T_d$  is the time delay between relay selection and transmission<sup>4</sup>. Clearly the time delay  $T_d$  will be significantly larger for the optimal strategy than for the

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ We note that the model in (2.39) is also suitable to represent the CSI estimation errors [75].

proposed hop-by-hop method. Therefore, for a fair comparison, the value of  $\rho$  for the optimal strategy should be chosen to be smaller than that for the proposed method. However, to determine the exact value of time delay and  $\rho$ , one must carefully examine the specific wireless technology involved. Therefore here we take a very optimistic view of the optimal strategy and assume that it has the same value of  $\rho$  as the hop-by-hop method. As the numerical results show, even under this scenario, the hop-by-hop method outperforms the optimal strategy.

In Figure 2.4, we show the simulation results for a four-hop network with  $L_i = 3$ , i = 1, 2, 3 as well as a seven-hop network with  $L_i = 3, i = 1, 2, \cdots, 6$  for the cases of perfect CSI and imperfect CSI with  $\rho = 0.95$ . In the case of perfect CSI, both optimal and hop-by-hop strategies have almost no performance loss as the number of hops increases from four to seven. However, in the case of the ad-hoc strategy, the seven-hop network has a higher outage probability than the four-hop network. In the case of imperfect CSI, the hop-by-hop strategy has almost no performance loss as the number of hops increases from four to seven. On the other hand for both optimal and ad-hoc strategies, the outage probability increases. Moreover, in the case of imperfect CSI, the hop-by-hop strategy outperforms the optimal<sup>5</sup> and ah-hoc strategies. In particular, for an outage probability of  $10^{-2}$ , the hop-by-hop strategy outperforms the optimal strategy by nearly 4 dB in SNR and this improvement increases for smaller outage probabilities. The reason for this improvement is that the path selected by the optimal strategy may fail at transmission time due to the fact that the (outdated) CSI at the time of transmission may be significantly different from the CSI used for relay selection, although a working path may be available at the time of transmission. In contrast, in the hop-by-hop method relays are not pre-selected but on a hop-by-hop basis right before transmission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that the optimal strategy is only optimal in the case of perfect CSI.



FIGURE 2.4. Outage Probability vs. Average SNR with  $\rho$ .

Figure 2.5 shows the end-to-end ergodic capacity vs. the average SNR for networks with different number of relays. It can be seen that for small values of SNR, the increased diversity resulting from a larger number relays improves the ergodic capacity. However, as SNR increases the effect of the higher diversity diminishes and the ergodic capacities are the same for different number of relays. Moreover, at low SNR values, a higher required rate  $\mathcal{R}$  leads to a lower ergodic capacity. This is due to the fact that for low SNR values and a large rate  $\mathcal{R}$ , the decoding sets are likely to be empty, and therefore, the ergodic capacity is nearly zero. The figure also shows that the approximation derived from analysis closely matches the results obtained form simulations.

In Figure 2.6 we show the effective ergodic capacity vs. average SNR for different number or relays. The same conclusions as those for Figure 2.5 can be drawn.



FIGURE 2.5. End-to-End Ergodic Capacity vs. Average SNR.



FIGURE 2.6. End-to-End Effective Ergodic Capacity vs. Average SNR.

# Chapter 3 A Novel Hop-By-Hop Relay Selection Strategy for Multi-hop Relay Networks

#### 3.1 Introduction

A key challenge in the implementation of the cooperative relay systems is that in a practical system the exact CSI is not available. This problem is further exacerbated for strategies which need to collect the CSI of all or most of the links before they calculate a path, as in the case of optimal [33] and last-*n*-hop [34] relay selection strategies, specially when the number of hops increases.

In this chapter, we propose a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop DF networks. In each relay cluster, relays that successfully decode the message from the previous hop form a candidate set for relaying. The relay in this candidate set which has the largest number of channels with an acceptable SNR level to the relays in the next hop is selected for retransmission. Therefore, relay selection is only based on the CSI of the channels in the following hop. Hence this method does not require a CC and can be implemented in a distributed manner. We analyze the performance of the proposed method in terms of end-to-end outage probability in both perfect and imperfect CSI scenarios and show that the results closely match those obtained from simulation. We also compare our results with those from ad-hoc and optimal relay selection [33], and show that in the case of perfect CSI the results are close to the optimal relay selection and in the case of imperfect CSI, the proposed method outperforms optimal relay selection. Moreover, our method outperforms ad-hoc in both perfect CSI and imperfect CSI cases.

Notations: Our notations and some of our modeling assumptions for this chapter are introduced here. S,  $RC_m$ , and D refer to source, relay cluster m, and destination, respectively.  $\mathbf{R}_{i}^{(m)}$  denotes relay *i* in the *m*th relay cluster.  $h_{\mathrm{A,B}}^{(m)}$  and  $\gamma_{\mathrm{A,B}}^{(m)}$  denote the instantaneous CSI and the instantaneous SNR of link  $\mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$  of hop *m*, respectively. And we let  $g_{\mathrm{A,B}}^{(m)} \triangleq |h_{\mathrm{A,B}}^{(m)}|^2$ . We denote the transmit power of each node by  $P_s$  and the noise random variable at receiver B by  $n_{\mathrm{B}}$ .  $\mathcal{CN}(\mu, \sigma^2)$  denotes the circularly symmetric complex Gaussian distribution with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ .

### 3.2 System Model

As shown in Figure 3.1, We consider a multi-hop wireless relay network consisting of one source (S), one destination (D), and M relay clusters ( $\mathrm{RC}_m, m = 1, \dots, M$ ) located between the source and destination. Each relay cluster  $\mathrm{RC}_m$  includes  $L_m$ single-antenna half-duplex relay nodes. There are totally M + 1 hops (from hop 0 to hop M) from S to D. We denote the first hop from S to  $\mathrm{RC}_1$  as hop 0,  $\mathrm{RC}_1$  to  $\mathrm{RC}_2$  as hop 1, and so on. We assume  $n_{\mathrm{B}} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_n^2)$ , and for each hop  $m, h_{\mathrm{A,B}}^{(m)} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \lambda_m)$ .



FIGURE 3.1. System Model of Multi-hop Relay Networks.

The instantaneous SNR of link  $\mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$  at hop m is given by

$$\gamma_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} = P_s |h_{\rm A,B}^{(m)}|^2 / \sigma_n^2 = \bar{\gamma} g_{\rm A,B}^{(m)}$$
(3.1)

where  $\bar{\gamma} = P_s / \sigma_n^2$ .

Reactive DF relaying scheme is used where in each relay cluster only a single relay is selected for retransmission. The proposed relay selection strategy is as follows. At the first hop, S broadcasts its signal to the first relay cluster (RC<sub>1</sub>). At any hop  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M-1$  the relays in RC<sub>m</sub> which are able to correctly decode the received signal form a decoding set denoted by  $\mathcal{D}_m$ . The decoding set, defined formally in (3.3), consists of all those relays whose SNR exceeds a predefined threshold  $T^1$ . Each relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  estimates the channel coefficients from itself to all the  $L_{m+1}$  relays in RC<sub>m+1</sub>, computes the corresponding instantaneous SNRs from (3.1), and compares these SNRs to the threshold T. For  $\mathbf{R}_i^{(m)}$  in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , let  $N_i^{(m)}$  denote the number of channels to relays in RC<sub>m+1</sub> for which the instantaneous SNR exceeds T.  $\mathbf{R}_i^{(m)}$  now starts a timer inversely proportional to  $N_i^{(m)}$ .  $\mathbf{R}_{i*}^{(m)}$  whose timer expires first has the largest number of "good" channels, i.e.,  $i^* = \arg \max_i N_i^{(m)}$ , and will retransmit<sup>2</sup>. All the other relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  hear this transmission and remain silent. We define

$$N_{\max}^{(m)} \triangleq \max\{N_i^{(m)}; i \in \mathcal{D}_m\}$$
(3.2)

We should point out that if  $N_{\max}^{(m)} = 0$ , then outage is declared. Finally at the last hop, the relay in  $\mathcal{D}_M$  which has the highest instantaneous SNR is selected for transmission to D.

Denote by C the required end-to-end spectral efficiency in bps/Hz. Then for  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M, \mathcal{D}_m$  consists of those relays whose link capacity from the previous stage exceeds C, i.e.

$$\mathcal{D}_m = \{j : \frac{1}{M+1} \log_2(1+\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m-1)}) \ge C\} = \{j : \gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m-1)} \ge 2^{(M+1)C} - 1\}$$
(3.3)

where  $\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(0)} \triangleq \gamma_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)}$  is the SNR from S to  $\mathrm{R}_j^{(m)}$  in RC<sub>1</sub>, and for  $m = 2, 3, \cdots, M, \gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m-1)}$ is the SNR from selected  $\mathrm{R}_{i^*}^{(m-1)} \in \mathrm{RC}_{m-1}^3$  to  $\mathrm{R}_j^{(m)}$  in RC<sub>m</sub>. Then the SNR threshold

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This is the minimum SNR required for correct decoding of the message.

 $<sup>^{2}\</sup>mathrm{A}$  small randomization can be introduced into the timer to avoid collisions in the case of ties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This relay has the largest number of SNR qualified channels to the relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_m$ .

T is defined as  $T \triangleq 2^{(M+1)C} - 1$ . In the Sections 3.3 and 3.4 we derive the outage probability of the proposed method for perfect and imperfect CSI, respectively.

### 3.3 Outage Probability in the Case of Perfect CSI

When CSI is perfect, the CSI used in relay selection is the same as the CSI at the time of retransmission. Therefore for any hop  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1$ , the number of relays in  $\mathcal{D}_{m+1}$  is equal to  $N_{\max}^{(m)}$ . Let  $c(\mathcal{D}_n)$  denote the cardinality of the set  $\mathcal{D}_n$ , and let  $\mathcal{O}_n = \{c(\mathcal{D}_n) = 0\}$ , i.e.,  $\mathcal{O}_n$  is the event that no relay in the *n*th cluster can decode the message, and  $\mathcal{O}_{M+1}$  is the event that destination D cannot decode the message. Then for the end-to-end outage event  $\mathcal{O}$  we can write

$$P(\mathcal{O}) = P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n) = \sum_{l_1=0}^{L_1} P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$$
$$= P(\mathcal{O}_1) + \sum_{l_1=1}^{L_1} P(\bigcup_{n=2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$$
(3.4)

Clearly, we have

$$P(\mathcal{O}_1) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_0}})^{L_1}$$
(3.5)

Moreover, we can calculate the probability that there are  $l_1$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_1$ , which is

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) = {\binom{L_1}{l_1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_0}})^{L_1 - l_1} (e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_0}})^{l_1}$$
(3.6)

Now what we need to calculate is  $P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for any  $1 \leq m < M$ . For  $1 \leq l_m \leq L_m$ , we have

$$P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
  
=  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$   
+  $\sum_{l_{m+1}=1}^{L_{m+1}} P(\bigcup_{n=m+2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}) P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  (3.7)

Note that in the above

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 0|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

Therefore we need to evaluate  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  and  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$ .

For  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1$ ,  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  is the probability that from any relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , the SNRs of all  $L_{m+1}$  links to the relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  are below the threshold T. Therefore,

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}$$
(3.8)

Similarly, for the last hop (when m = M), since the relay in  $\mathcal{D}_M$  with the highest SNR among the  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$  links is selected for retransmission, outage occurs when the SNR of all these  $l_M$  links are below the threshold T. Therefore,

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{M+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M) = P(\max_{i \in \mathcal{D}_M} \{\gamma_{i,\mathrm{D}}^{(M)}\} < T|c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_M}})^{l_M}$$
(3.9)

Let  $A_k^{(m)}$  denote the event that from a relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , there are k channels to relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  whose instantaneous SNRs are above the threshold T, and let  $B_k^{(m)} = \bigcup_{l'=0}^{k-1} A_{l'}^{(m)}$ . Then we have

$$P(A_k^{(m)}) = \binom{L_{m+1}}{k} (e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^k (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}-k}$$
(3.10)

Also  $P(B_k^{(m)}) = \sum_{l'=0}^{k-1} P(A_{l'}^{(m)}).$ 

To evaluate  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$ , we note that there must be  $l \ (1 \leq l \leq l_m)$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  which have  $l_{m+1}$  channels to relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ , whose SNRs exceed the threshold T, while the remaining  $l_m - l$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , have fewer than  $l_{m+1}$  channels with SNRs above the threshold T. Therefore we can write

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = \sum_{l=1}^{l_m} {\binom{l_m}{l}} \left[ P(A_{l_{m+1}}^{(m)}) \right]^l \left[ P(B_{l_{m+1}}^{(m)}) \right]^{l_m - l}$$
(3.11)

Finally by putting(3.5) (3.6), (3.8)-(3.11) into (3.4), we get the outage probability for the case of perfect CSI.

#### 3.4 Outage Probability in the Presence of CSI Uncertainty

In mobile systems, the exact CSI is not available. Therefore, the CSI used for relay selection may be different from the CSI at the time of retransmission. This implies that the relay selected for retransmission may not satisfy the criterion of the relay selection strategy, which would degrade the outage performance of the relay selection strategy.

Therefore, in this section we evaluate the performance of the proposed strategy in the presence of uncertainty in the CSI.

Similar to (2.39), we denote by  $\tilde{h}_{A,B}^{(m)}$  and  $h_{A,B}^{(m)}$  the CSIs at the instants of relay selection and relay transmission, respectively. To model the CSI uncertainty, we adopt a first-order autoregressive model given by

$$h_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} = \rho \tilde{h}_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} + \sqrt{1 - \rho^2} w_{\rm A,B}^{(m)}$$
(3.12)

where  $w_{A,B}^{(m)} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \lambda_m)$  is independent of  $\tilde{h}_{A,B}^{(m)}$ .

To evaluate the outage probability in this case we again start with (3.4). We first consider the transmission from S to RC<sub>1</sub> at hop 0. Since S simply broadcasts its message to all the relays in RC<sub>1</sub> without any CSI collection or relay selection procedure, CSI uncertainty is not an issue here. Therefore  $P(\mathcal{O}_1)$  and  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$  are exactly the same as in the case of perfect CSI.

Next, to evaluate  $P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1}\mathcal{O}_n|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for any  $1 \leq m < M$  and  $1 \leq l_m \leq L_m$ , we use (3.7) for which we need to compute  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for  $1 \leq m \leq M$ , and  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for  $1 \leq m \leq M - 1$ . We start by evaluating  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for  $1 \leq m \leq M - 1$ . When  $1 \leq l_m \leq L_m$ , one relay, say  $R_{i^*}^{(m)} \in \mathcal{D}_m$ , among these  $l_m$  relays is selected for retransmission. In this case the outage probability in this stage can be expressed as

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= \sum_{\tilde{l}_{m+1}=1}^{L_{m+1}} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 0 | c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1}, c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$\times P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$+ P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = 0 | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= \sum_{\tilde{l}_{m+1}=1}^{L_{m+1}} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 0 | c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1}) P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$+ P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = 0 | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
(3.13)

where  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}$  denotes the decoding set assumed in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  when  $\mathrm{R}_{i^*}^{(m)}$  is selected, which might be different from the actual decoding set  $\mathcal{D}_{m+1}$  formed after transmission from  $\mathrm{R}_{i^*}^{(m)}$ . To briefly explain (3.13), we note that if  $c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = 0$ , then an outage is declared and no retransmission is attempted at this stage. On the other hand, when  $c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) > 0$ , an outage occurs if after retransmission, no relays in relay cluster  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ can decode the message, i.e.,  $c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 0$ .

Similar to (3.11), when  $0 < \tilde{l}_{m+1} \le L_{m+1}$ , we can write

$$P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = \sum_{l=1}^{l_m} {\binom{l_m}{l}} \left[ P(A_{\tilde{l}_{m+1}}^{(m)}) \right]^l \left[ P(B_{\tilde{l}_{m+1}}^{(m)}) \right]^{l_m-l}$$
(3.14)

and similar to (3.8), we have

$$P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = 0 | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{l_m L_{m+1}}$$
(3.15)

Since CSI used for relay selection is imperfect, it is possible the actual decoding set formed after transmission is actually an empty set. With some thought it can be seen that

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 0 | c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1})$$
  
=  $[P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T)]^{\tilde{l}_{m+1}} [P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)]^{L_{m+1} - \tilde{l}_{m+1}}$  (3.16)

The following lemmas whose proofs are given in Appendix D and E are used to evaluate the two probabilities involved in (3.16).

**Lemma 6.**  $P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)$  is given by

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)$$

$$= 1 - \frac{e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}} [Q_1(\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}) - Q_1(\rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})]}{1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}}$$
(3.17)

where  $Q_1(a,b) = \int_b^\infty x e^{-\frac{x^2+a^2}{2}} I_0(ax) dx$  is the first-order Marcum Q-function [76]. Lemma 7.  $P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T)$  is given by

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T) = Q_1(\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}) - Q_1(\rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})$$
(3.18)

Finally for the last hop when m = M, and for  $1 \le l_M \le L_M$ , according to Eq. (8) in [25], we have

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{M+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M) = l_M \sum_{s=0}^{l_M - 1} {\binom{l_M - 1}{s}} (-1)^s \frac{1}{1+s} (1 - e^{\frac{-(1+s)T}{(1+s-\rho^2 s)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_M}})$$
(3.19)

Next, we need to evaluate  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$ . When  $1 \leq l_m \leq L_m$ and  $0 < l_{m+1} \leq L_{m+1}$ ,  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  can be written as

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= \sum_{\tilde{l}_{m+1}=1}^{L_{m+1}} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1}, c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$\times P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

$$= \sum_{\tilde{l}_{m+1}=1}^{L_{m+1}} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1}) P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) \quad (3.20)$$

in which  $P(c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  is calculated in (3.14) and  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1})$  can be derived as

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{m+1}) = \tilde{l}_{m+1})$$

$$= \sum_{k=\max\{l_{m+1}-(L_{m+1}-\tilde{l}_{m+1}),0\}}^{\min\{l_{m+1},\tilde{l}_{m+1}\}} {\binom{\tilde{l}_{m+1}}{k}}$$

$$\times [P(\gamma_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} > T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} > T)]^{k} [P(\gamma_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} > T)]^{\tilde{l}_{m+1}-k}$$

$$\times {\binom{L_{m+1}-\tilde{l}_{m+1}}{l_{m+1}-k}} [P(\gamma_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} > T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} < T)]^{l_{m+1}-k}$$

$$\times [P(\gamma_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} < T)]^{L_{m+1}-\tilde{l}_{m+1}-(l_{m+1}-k)}$$
(3.21)

We would like to note that (3.16) is a special case of (3.21) when  $l_{m+1} = 0$ . The probabilities in (3.21) are evaluated from Lemmas 6 and 7.

From Lemmas 6 and 7, we can evaluate the left hand side of (3.16) and (3.21). Then using (3.13) (3.16) (3.19) and (3.21) into (3.7), we get  $P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for the case of imperfect CSI. Then the end-to-end outage probability can be computed from (3.4).

## 3.5 Numerical Results

We start by comparing the complexity of our proposed method with that of optimal and ad-hoc relay selection strategies. Optimal relay selection requires the CSI of all the links to be collected by a CC before the best path can be selected. The total number of CSIs in this case is  $\Lambda_1 = L_1 + L_M + \sum_{m=1}^{M-1} L_m L_{m+1}$ . In the proposed method the number of CSI needed to select the relay in RC<sub>m</sub> (from the set  $\mathcal{D}_m$ ),  $(m = 1, 2, \dots, M-1)$  is  $l_m L_{m+1}$ , and for the last hop it is  $l_M$ . Therefore the total number of CSIs needed is  $\Lambda_2 = l_M + \sum_{m=1}^{M-1} l_m L_{m+1}$ . Clearly  $\Lambda_2 < \Lambda_1$ . In cases when channel conditions are not favorable we have  $l_m << L_m$  and  $\Lambda_2 << \Lambda_1$ . More importantly however, the proposed method is a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy. It does not require a CC for end-to-end path selection and therefore its algorithmic complexity and communication overhead are significantly lower than optimal relay selection. In the ad-hoc relay selection strategy the total number of CSIs needed for relay selection is  $\Lambda_3 = \sum_{m=1}^{M} L_m$ , which is much less than our proposed method. However, as shown below, the performance of the ad-hoc strategy is significantly inferior to our method.

It is not possible to determine the time delay between relay selection and transmission without careful examination of the specific wireless technology involved. Clearly the time delay for optimal relay selection will be significantly larger than that of our proposed method and ad-hoc relay selection since relay selection and transmission in optimal relay selection is not on hop-by-hop basis. However, in the results presented here we take a very optimistic view of optimal relay selection and assume that it has the same time delay as hop-by-hop relay selection strategies. Therefore we compare our results with those from optimal relay selection for the same value of  $\rho$ . As the numerical results for the case of imperfect CSI show, even in this scenario, our method outperforms optimal relay selection. The reason for this improvement is explained in the following when we discuss the figures. However, for fair comparison, the value of  $\rho$  for optimal relay selection should be smaller than that for the proposed method resulting in even larger improvements for our method over optimal relay selection.

In Figure 3.2, we show the outage probability vs. SNR for 4-hop (M = 3) relay networks, where SNR is defined as  $\bar{\gamma} = P_s/\sigma_n^2$ , and we have assumed that  $\lambda_m = 1$ . We assume  $\sigma_n^2 = 1$ , and a target rate of C = 2/(M + 1) bps/Hz. We compare the outage probability of our proposed relay selection strategy with the results from optimal and ad-hoc relay selection strategies in the case of perfect CSI. When  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) =$ (5, 5, 5), all relay clusters have the same number of relays. As we can see, optimal relay selection has the lowest outage probability, but the outage probability of our proposed method approaches and converges to that of optimal relay selection at high SNR region. Meanwhile, ad-hoc relay selection has a much higher outage probability compared to our proposed method.



FIGURE 3.2. Outage Probability vs. SNR with different relay distributions.

In the optimal relay selection strategy in [33], all relay clusters have the same number of relays, the first hop and the last hop are the main constraints for outage probability. In our proposed method, in the first hop the diversity order is  $L_1$ , while in last hop it is  $c(\mathcal{D}_M) = l_M$ . For any hop m between two relay clusters, there are  $l_m L_{m+1}$  links to be considered for relay selection. Therefore, in this case the last hop which has the smallest diversity order becomes the bottleneck. As SNR increases, with high probability, all relays in the last relay cluster are included in the decoding set. As a result the last hop has the same diversity order as the first hop. This is the reason that the outage probability of the proposed method approaches that of optimal relay selection at high SNR region. When  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (5, 3, 7)$ , we can see that both optimal relay selection and our proposed method have lower outage probabilities compared to  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (5, 5, 5)$  case, since the diversity order of last hop increases, Unlike optimal relay selection and our proposed method, ad-hoc relay selection has even higher outage probability compared to  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (5, 5, 5)$  case. For ad-hoc relay selection the diversity order of hop m is  $L_m$  and reducing  $L_2$  from 5 to 3, causes a bottleneck at this hop resulting in higher outage probability.

In Figure 3.3, we set  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (5, 5, 5)$ . We also use the same parameters as in Figure 3.2 except that we consider both perfect CSI and imperfect CSI cases for comparison. In the case of perfect CSI, as we discussed above, the outage probability of our proposed method approaches that of optimal relay selection at high SNR region. When  $\rho = 0.99$ , it is clear that our proposed method has the lowest outage probability among the three relay selection strategys. When  $\rho$  reduces from 0.99 to 0.9, the difference between outage probabilities of the proposed method and optimal relay selection is even larger. The reason is that in the case of imperfect CSI, optimal relay selection does not fully explore the broadcast nature of the relays. Once the path from source to destination is selected, all the relays participating in transmission are determined. In the case of perfect CSI, this path is the best path. However, between any two relay clusters, one pair of relays and their link are selected and fixed for the path. When this link is down due to the fact that the CSI at transmission time is different from the CSI that was used for path selection, there is no back-up channel available and end-to-end outage occurs. In contrast, in our proposed relay selection, relays are not pre-selected globally but on a hop-by-hop basis right before transmission. For any hop m  $(m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1)$ , the best relay selected in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ transmits to all the relays in  $RC_{m+1}$ . All the relays in  $RC_{m+1}$  which are able to correctly decode the message form  $\mathcal{D}_{m+1}$  are candidates for forwarding the message. Due to this broadcast nature of relays at every hop, our proposed method is less vulnerable and more robust to imperfect CSI issue.

In Figure 3.4, we plot the outage probability vs.  $\rho$  for  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (5, 5, 5)$ . We also use the same parameters as in Figure 3.2 except that  $\bar{\gamma} = P_s / \sigma_n^2 = 15$  dB. In addition



FIGURE 3.3. Outage Probability vs. SNR in perfect CSI and imperfect CSI cases.

to the proposed method, the optimal and the ad-hoc relay selection strategies, we have plotted the outage probabilities for two other simple relay selection methods.



FIGURE 3.4. Outage Probability vs.  $\rho$ .

The "random relay selection 1" refers to a method in which a random end-to-end path is selected for transmission. In other words, in each relay cluster, one relay will receive, decode, and retransmit to the selected relay/destination in the following stage. Since all the relays are randomly selected without considering any CSI/SNR, there is no imperfect CSI issue. The performance of this scheme is the same as the case when there is only a single relay in each stage. For an M + 1-hop network, the end-to-end outage probability is given by

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{rrs1}) = 1 - \sum_{m=1}^{M+1} [1 - P(\mathcal{O}_m)]$$
  
=  $1 - \sum_{m=1}^{M+1} e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{m-1}}}$  (3.22)

The "random relay selection 2" refers to the method where in each relay cluster, the relays which are able to correctly decode the received signal from the previous stage form a decoding set, and one relay among them is chosen at random to retransmit to relays/destination in the following stage. The end-to-end outage probability of this method can be expressed as

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{rrs2}) = P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n)$$
  
=  $P(\mathcal{O}_1) + P(\bigcup_{n=2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(D_1) > 0) P(c(D_1) > 0)$  (3.23)

in which  $P(\mathcal{O}_1)$  is given in (3.5).  $P(c(D_1) > 0)$  can be directly calculated as

$$P(c(D_1) > 0) = 1 - P(\mathcal{O}_1)$$
  
= 1 - (1 - e<sup>- $\frac{T}{\gamma\lambda_0}$</sup> )<sup>L<sub>1</sub></sup> (3.24)

For any  $1 \leq m < M$ ,

$$P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(D_m) > 0)$$
  
=  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1} | c(D_m) > 0)$   
+  $P(\bigcup_{n=m+2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(D_{m+1}) > 0) P(c(D_{m+1}) > 0 | c(D_m) > 0)$  (3.25)

in which

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(D_m) > 0) = (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}}$$
(3.26)

and

$$P(c(D_{m+1}) > 0 | c(D_m) > 0) = 1 - P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1} | c(D_m) > 0)$$
$$= 1 - (1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^{L_{m+1}}$$
(3.27)

And for the last hop, one random relay in  $D_M$  is selected to transmit to D, the diversity order is one, and we have

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{M+1}|c(D_M) > 0) = 1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_M}}$$
 (3.28)

When  $\rho = 0$ , the instantaneous CSI at the time of relay transmission is unrelated to the instantaneous CSI at the time of relay selection. In the optimal relay selection strategy, this is equivalent to the scenario that a random end-to-end path is selected for transmission, which is the same as "random relay selection 1". Similarly for the ad-hoc method,  $\rho = 0$  is equivalent to 'random relay selection 1". Figure 3.4 verifies that at  $\rho = 0$ , these three methods have the same performance. In contrast, when  $\rho = 0$ , the proposed method would be the same as "random relay selection 2" and this is also verified in Figure 3.4. As  $\rho$  increases, the outage probabilities of the optimal, ad-hoc and the proposed methods are reduced. However, as the figure shows, the adhoc strategy can never achieve the same performance as the proposed method, and the optimal strategy can only achieve the same performance as our proposed method when  $\rho = 1$ . Figure 3.4 also shows that for values of  $\rho < 0.8$ , the improvement of the outage probability vs.  $\rho$  is very slow and that acceptable performance can only be achieved for values of  $\rho$  close to 1. This trend is also valid for other configurations of the network. From figures such as Figure 3.4 we can obtain the minimum value of  $\rho$  which guarantees an upper bound on the resulting outage probability. Using the Jakes' model, this can then be translated into an upper limit on the time duration between CSI measurement and relay transmission.

In Figure 3.5, we show the results of a 4-hop  $(L_1, L_2, L_3) = (3, 3, 3)$  network and a 7-hop  $(L_1, L_2, L_3, L_4, L_5, L_6) = (3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3)$  network in perfect CSI case and imperfect CSI  $(\rho = 0.90)$  case, respectively. In the case of perfect CSI, both optimal relay selection and our method have almost no performance loss as the number of hops increases from 4 to 7. However, it is clear that for ad-hoc relay selection, the 7-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network. In the case of imperfect CSI  $(\rho = 0.90)$ , our method has almost no performance loss as the number of hops increases from 4 to 7. Therefore, in the case of imperfect CSI, our method is robust to increases in the number of hops in the network. However, for both optimal relay selection and ad-hoc relay selection, the 7-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network has a higher outage probability than the 4-hop network.



FIGURE 3.5. Outage Probability vs. SNR with different number of hops.

## Chapter 4

## Decode-and-Forward Relay Selection with Imperfect CSI in Two-hop Cognitive Relay Networks

## 4.1 Introduction

In this chapter<sup>1</sup>, we consider cognitive relay networks with imperfect CSI under interference power constraint. Reactive DF and ORS are assumed whereby SU relays that successfully receive and decode the message from the SU source form the candidate set for relaying, and the best relay among them is selected to retransmit to the SU destination. We investigate the performance of DF-ORS in terms of outage probability of the SU and the interference probability at the PU. In order to allow the secondary network to back-off its peak transmit power, two power margin factors are considered for the SU source and relays. Numerical results show that with the proper selection of the power margin factors the desired values of outage and interference probabilities can be achieved. The results here can also be used to select other system parameters in order to achieve the desired system performance.

Notations: Here we introduce the notation used in the rest of the chapter. S, P, R(k) and D refer to SU source, PU (receiver), relay k, and SU destination, respectively.  $\tilde{h}_{A,B}$  denotes the imperfect channel coefficient for link A  $\rightarrow$  B.  $h_{A,B}$  denotes the current CSI of link A  $\rightarrow$  B.  $\tilde{\gamma}_{A,B}$  and  $\gamma_{A,B}$  denote the imperfect SNR and the current SNR of link A  $\rightarrow$  B, respectively. We denote by  $P_A$  the transmit power from node A.  $\mathcal{CN}(\mu, \sigma^2)$  denotes the circularly symmetric complex Gaussian distribution with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ , and  $\text{Exp}(1/\lambda)$  denotes an exponential distribution with mean  $\lambda$ . We

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Sections of this chapter previously appeared as Hui Sun, Mort Naraghi-Pour, Decode-and-Forward Relay Selection with Imperfect CSI in Cognitive Relay Networks, at the 2014 IEEE Military Communications Conference ©2014 IEEE. It is reprinted by permission of IEEE.

use the notations  $f_X(\cdot)$  and  $F_X(\cdot)$  to refer to the probability density function (PDF) and the cumulative distribution function (CDF) of random variable X, respectively.

#### 4.2 System Model

Consider an SU in a cognitive relay network with a single source and destination and a set of K relays as shown in Figure 4.1.



FIGURE 4.1. System Model of Two-hop Underlay Spectrum Sharing Cognitive Relay Networks.

For any link from node A to node B, the received signal at B is given by

$$r_{\rm B} = h_{\rm A,B} x_{\rm A} + n_{\rm B} \tag{4.1}$$

where  $x_{\rm A}$  is the transmitted symbol from A,  $n_{\rm B} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_{\rm B}^2)$  is the noise random variable at node B. We assume that the noise variables at all the receivers are *iid* at all SU relays. All channel coefficients are also assumed to be independent. For transmitter A and receiver B, the channel coefficient  $h_{\rm A,B} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \lambda_{\rm A,B})$  with  $\lambda_{\rm A,B} = (\frac{d_{\rm A,B}}{d_0})^{-\eta}$ , where  $\eta$  is the path-loss exponent and  $d_{\rm A,B}$  is the distance between A and B, and  $d_0$  is the close-in reference distance. Hence the channel gain  $g_{\rm A,B} = |h_{\rm A,B}|^2 \sim \text{Exp}(1/\lambda_{\rm A,B})$ with PDF  $f_{g_{\rm A,B}}(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\rm A,B}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\rm A,B}}}$ . Assuming that the relays are approximately equidistant from the SU source, the SU destination and the PU. Therefore,  $\lambda_{\rm S,R(k)} = \lambda_{\rm S,R}$ ,  $\lambda_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} = \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}$ , and  $\lambda_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{P}} = \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}$ , for  $k = 1, \cdots, K^2$ . The instantaneous SNR of link  $\mathrm{A} \to \mathrm{B}$ , denoted by  $\gamma_{\mathrm{A},\mathrm{B}}$ , is given by  $\gamma_{\mathrm{A},\mathrm{B}} = P_{\mathrm{A}}|h_{\mathrm{A},\mathrm{B}}|^2/\sigma_{\mathrm{B}}^2$ .

Let  $I_p$  denote the maximum interference power that the PU can tolerate. It is required that the interference at the PU receiver remain below  $I_p$ . Therefore the transmit power at S, denoted by  $P_s$ , is limited by  $P_s|\tilde{h}_{S,P}|^2 \leq I_p$  based on imperfect  $S \rightarrow P$  channel. To get the maximum SNR from source to relay, we may choose  $P_s = I_p/|\tilde{h}_{S,P}|^2$ . However, we introduce a power margin factor  $\alpha$  ( $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ ) and let  $P_s = \alpha I_p/|\tilde{h}_{S,P}|^2$ . When transmit power at the SU source is decided, the SU source broadcasts its data to all the relays. At this time, CSI of  $S \rightarrow P$  is  $h_{S,P}$ , which may be different from the outdated CSI  $\tilde{h}_{S,P}$ .

All the relays which are able to decode the source information form a decoding set  $(\mathcal{D})$ . From among these, the relay which has the best relay-to-destination channel is selected to retransmit. Also, we introduce a power margin factor  $\beta$  ( $0 < \beta \leq 1$ ) in order to lower the interference probability from the relays to the PU. Therefore, for relay k in  $\mathcal{D}$ , the retransmit power  $P_{\mathrm{R}(k)}$  is given by  $P_{\mathrm{R}(k)} = \beta I_p / |\tilde{h}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{P}}|^2$ , and the SNR in the link  $\mathrm{R}(k) \to \mathrm{D}$  at the relay selection time is given by  $\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} = P_{\mathrm{R}(k)} |\tilde{h}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}|^2 / \sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^2$ . From the  $\mathcal{D}$ , we choose relay  $\mathrm{R}(i)$  for retransmission if

$$i = \underset{k \in \mathcal{D}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \quad \tilde{\gamma}_{\mathcal{R}(k),\mathcal{D}} \tag{4.2}$$

Note that the SNR in the link  $R(i) \rightarrow D$  at the retransmission time is given by  $\gamma_{R(i),D} = P_{R(i)} |h_{R(i),D}|^2 / \sigma_D^2$ . Similar to (2.39), to model the CSI uncertainty, we adopt a first-order autoregressive model given by

$$h_{\rm A,B} = \rho \tilde{h}_{\rm A,B} + \sqrt{1 - \rho^2} w_{\rm A,B}$$
 (4.3)

where  $w_{A,B} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \lambda_{A,B})$  is independent of  $\tilde{h}_{A,B}$ .

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ This assumption is justified by the proximity of the relays to each other and their large separation from the other entities in the network.

## 4.3 Outage Probability

Let C denote the end-to-end spectral efficiency in bps/Hz required for the SU. Then the set  $\mathcal{D}$  consists of those relays whose link capacity to the source exceeds C, that is,

$$\mathcal{D} = \{k : \frac{1}{2} \log_2(1 + \gamma_{S,R(k)}) \ge C\}$$
  
=  $\{k : \gamma_{S,R(k)} \ge 2^{2C} - 1\}$  (4.4)

Let  $T \triangleq 2^{2C} - 1$ . Then  $\mathcal{D} = \{k : \gamma_{S,R(k)} \geq T\}$ . We denote by  $c(\mathcal{D})$  the cardinality of the set  $\mathcal{D}$ . Then outage probability can be written as

$$P_{out}(T) = \sum_{l=0}^{K} P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$
(4.5)

In the following, we compute  $P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$  and  $P(outage | c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$ , respectively.

We can write

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l) = \int_0^\infty P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l | \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}} = y) f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}(y) \, dy. \tag{4.6}$$

Thus we need to evaluate  $P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l | \tilde{g}_{S,P} = y)$  and  $f_{\tilde{g}_{S,P}}(y)$ . Since  $P_S = \alpha I_p / \tilde{g}_{S,P}$ , we have

$$\gamma_{\mathrm{S,R}(k)} = \frac{P_S |h_{\mathrm{S,R}(k)}|^2}{\sigma_R^2} = \frac{\alpha I_p g_{\mathrm{S,R}(k)}}{\sigma_R^2 \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{S,P}}}$$
(4.7)

Let  $\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \triangleq \frac{I_p}{\sigma_R^2}$ . Then

$$P(\gamma_{\mathrm{S,R}(k)} < x | \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{S,P}} = y) = P(g_{\mathrm{S,R}(k)} < \frac{xy}{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}}}) = 1 - e^{-\frac{xy}{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S,R}}}}$$
(4.8)

from which and the fact that all the source-to-relay channels are *iid*, we get

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l | \tilde{g}_{S,P} = y) = \binom{K}{l} (1 - e^{-\frac{Ty}{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}})^{K-l} (e^{-\frac{Ty}{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}})^{l}$$
(4.9)

Finally noting that  $f_{\tilde{g}_{S,P}}(x) = f_{g_{S,P}}(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{S,P}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_{S,P}}}$  and using (4.9) in (4.6) we get

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} {\binom{K}{l}} (1 - e^{-\frac{Ty}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}}})^{K-l} (e^{-\frac{Ty}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}}})^{l} \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}} e^{-\frac{y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}} dy$$

$$= {\binom{K}{l}} \frac{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}}{T\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}} B(l + \frac{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}}{T\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}, K - l + 1)$$
(4.10)

where  $B(\mu, \nu) = \int_0^1 t^{\mu-1} (1-t)^{\nu-1} dt$  is the Beta function [77].

We now need to calculate  $P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$ . Since  $P_{\mathrm{R}(k)} = \beta I_p / \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{P}}$ , letting  $\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} = \frac{I_p}{\sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^2}$ , we have

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} = \frac{P_{\mathrm{R}(k)}|\tilde{h}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}|^2}{\sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^2} = \beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} \frac{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}}{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{P}}}$$
(4.11)

Moreover, the SNR for relay k at retransmission time is given by

$$\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} = \frac{P_{\mathrm{R}(k)}|h_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}|^2}{\sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^2} = \beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} \frac{g_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}}{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{P}}}$$
(4.12)

When l = 0, due to the fact that the set  $\mathcal{D}$  is empty,  $P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = 0) = 1$ . When l = 1, there is only one relay in  $\mathcal{D}$ , so there is no relay selection process. As a result, CSI uncertainty is not an issue since  $\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}$  and  $\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}$  have the same distribution. Define  $\gamma_{1(k)} \triangleq \beta I_p g_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}$ , and  $\tilde{\gamma}_{2(k)} \triangleq \sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^2 \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{P}}$ . The distributions of  $\gamma_{1(k)}$  and  $\gamma_{2(k)}$  are given by

$$\gamma_{1(k)} \sim \operatorname{Exp}(\frac{1}{\beta I_p \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}), \quad \tilde{\gamma}_{2(k)} \sim \operatorname{Exp}(\frac{1}{\sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^2 \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}})$$

$$(4.13)$$

From these the PDF and CDF of  $\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} = \gamma_{1(k)}/\tilde{\gamma}_{2(k)}$  are given by

$$f_{\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}}(x) = \frac{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}{\beta\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} \frac{1}{(\frac{x\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}{\beta\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} + 1)^2}, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, K,$$
(4.14)

and

$$F_{\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}}(x) = 1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{x\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}{\beta\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}},\tag{4.15}$$

respectively. From (4.15) we get

$$P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = 1) = P(\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} < T) = 1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{T\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}{\beta\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}}$$
(4.16)

When l > 1, we define  $A_i(l)$  as the event that relay *i* from the set  $\mathcal{D}$  is selected for retransmission, i.e., given that  $c(\mathcal{D}) = l, l = 1, 2, \cdots, K$ ,

$$A_i(l) = \{ \tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} = \max_{k \in \mathcal{D}} \tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} \}.$$
(4.17)

Since we assume that all the relay-to-destination channels are *iid*, each relay in the  $\mathcal{D}$  has the same probability of being selected for retransmission (to have the highest relay-to-destination SNR). Therefore,  $P(A_i(l)|c(\mathcal{D}) = l) = \frac{1}{l}$ . Then we have

$$P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{l} P(\gamma_{R(i),D} < T|c(\mathcal{D}) = l, A_i(l))P(A_i(l)|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= P(\gamma_{R(i),D} < T|c(\mathcal{D}) = l, A_i(l))$$
(4.18)

**Remark 8.** In order to simplify our notation, with some abuse of notation we drop the conditioning on the event  $c(\mathcal{D}) = l$  from all of subsequent derivations, understanding that when conditioning on the event  $A_i(l)$ , it is given that  $c(\mathcal{D}) = l$ . For example instead of  $P(\gamma_{R(i),D} < T | c(\mathcal{D}) = l, A_i(l))$  we write  $P(\gamma_{R(i),D} < T | A_i(l))$ .

In Appendix F it is shown that

$$P(\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} < T | A_{i}(l)) =$$

$$l \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{T} \frac{x}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} e^{\frac{-(\frac{xz}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}+\rho^{2}y)}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}}$$

$$\times I_{0} \left(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^{2}xyz}}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}\sqrt{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}}\right) \left(\frac{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}x+\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}y}\right)^{l-1}$$

$$\times \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}} dz dy dx$$

$$(4.19)$$

where  $I_0(\cdot)$  is the zero-order modified Bessel function of the first kind. Now combining (4.5), (4.10), (4.18) and (4.19), we get the outage probability

$$\begin{split} P_{out}(T) \\ &= \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S,R}}}{T \lambda_{\mathrm{S,P}}} B(\frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S,R}}}{T \lambda_{\mathrm{S,P}}}, K+1) \\ &+ K \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S,R}}}{T \lambda_{\mathrm{S,P}}} B(1 + \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S,R}}}{T \lambda_{\mathrm{S,P}}}, K)(1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{T \lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R,D}} \lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}}}}) \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{K} {\binom{K}{l}} \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S,R}}}{T \lambda_{\mathrm{S,P}}} B(l + \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{S,R}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S,R}}}{T \lambda_{\mathrm{S,P}}}, K - l + 1) \\ &\times \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{T} \frac{x}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R,D}}(1 - \rho^2) \lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}}} e^{\frac{-(\frac{xz}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R,D}}} + \rho^2 y)}{(1 - \rho^2) \lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}}}} I_0(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^2 x y z}}{(1 - \rho^2) \lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}} \sqrt{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R,D}}}}) l \\ &\times (\frac{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}} y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}} x + \lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}} y})^{l-1} \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}} \lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}} e^{\frac{-y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}}} dz dy dx \end{split}$$
(4.20)

Finally using the first-order Marcum Q-function  $Q_1(a, b) \triangleq \int_b^\infty x e^{-\frac{x^2+a^2}{2}} I_0(ax) dx$  [76], we can simplify (4.20) to

$$P_{out}(T) = \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}} B(\frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}}, K+1) + K \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}} B(1 + \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}}, K)(1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{T \lambda_{R,P}}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{R,D} \lambda_{R,D}}}) + \sum_{l=2}^{K} {K \choose l} \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}} B(l + \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}}, K-l+1) \times \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} [1 - Q_1(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2y}{(1 - \rho^2) \lambda_{R,D}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2xT}{(1 - \rho^2) \lambda_{R,D} \beta \bar{\gamma}_{R,D}}})] \times l(\frac{\lambda_{R,P} y}{\lambda_{R,D} x + \lambda_{R,P} y})^{l-1} \frac{1}{\lambda_{R,D} \lambda_{R,P}} e^{\frac{-y}{\lambda_{R,D}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{R,P}}} dy dx$$
(4.21)

**Remark 9.** As indicated in (4.3) when  $\rho = 1$ , there is no uncertainty in the channel coefficients. In other words perfect knowledge of CSI is available. In this case we have

$$P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= P(\gamma_{R(i),D} \leq T|i = \underset{k=1,\cdots,l}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \{\gamma_{R(k),D}\})$$

$$= [P(\gamma_{R(i),D} \leq T)]^{l}$$

$$= (1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{T\lambda_{R,P}}{\beta\bar{\gamma}_{R,D}\lambda_{R,D}}})^{l}$$
(4.22)

Therefore the outage probability is given by

$$P_{out}(T) = \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}} \sum_{l=0}^{K} \left(1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{T \lambda_{R,P}}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{R,D} \lambda_{R,D}}}\right)^{l} \\ \times \binom{K}{l} B(l + \frac{\alpha \bar{\gamma}_{S,R} \lambda_{S,R}}{T \lambda_{S,P}}, K - l + 1)$$
(4.23)

### 4.4 Interference Probability

Interference probability is defined as the probability that the interference inflicted upon the PU by the SU network exceeds the maximum interference power  $I_p$ . This may come either from the SU source or from the selected SU relay. Since CSI is not perfect, interference to the PU cannot be prevented. Let  $\bar{\mathcal{I}}_S$  denote the event that the interference from SU source does not exceed the threshold  $I_p$ , and let  $\bar{\mathcal{I}}_R$  denote the event that the interference from the selected relay does not exceed the threshold  $I_p$ . The interference probability, denoted by  $P_{int}$ , is given by

$$P_{int} = 1 - \sum_{l=0}^{K} P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l) P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_S | c(\mathcal{D}) = l) P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_R | c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$
(4.24)

We now derive  $P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_S | c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$ . Let  $I_S \triangleq P_S |h_{S,P}|^2$  denote the interference power received at the PU from the SU source, where, as mentioned previously,  $P_S = \alpha I_p / |\tilde{h}_{S,P}|^2$  is determined using the imperfect CSI  $\tilde{h}_{S,P}$ . Then

$$I_S = \frac{\alpha I_p |h_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}|^2}{|\tilde{h}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}|^2} = \frac{\alpha I_p g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}$$
(4.25)

There will not be any interference from the SU source to PU if  $I_S \leq I_p$ , which is equivalent to  $\alpha g_{S,P} \leq \tilde{g}_{S,P}$ . Thus

$$P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{S}|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= \int_{x_{1}=0}^{\infty} \int_{x_{2}=0}^{\frac{x_{1}}{\alpha}} f_{g_{S,P},\tilde{g}_{S,P}}(x_{2}, x_{1}|c(\mathcal{D}) = l) dx_{2} dx_{1}$$

$$= \int_{x_{1}=0}^{\infty} \int_{x_{2}=0}^{\frac{x_{1}}{\alpha}} P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l|g_{S,P} = x_{2}, \tilde{g}_{S,P} = x_{1}) \frac{f_{g_{S,P},\tilde{g}_{S,P}}(x_{2}, x_{1})}{P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l)} dx_{2} dx_{1} \qquad (4.26)$$

Now we have

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l | g_{S,P} = x_2, \tilde{g}_{S,P} = x_1) = P(c(\mathcal{D}) = l | \tilde{g}_{S,P} = x_1)$$
(4.27)

which is given in (4.9). The distribution of  $g_{S,P}$  conditioned on  $\tilde{g}_{S,P}$ , follows a noncentral chi-square distribution with 2 degrees of freedom given by [73]

$$f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}|\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}(x_2|x_1) = \frac{1}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}} e^{\frac{-(x_2+\rho^2x_1)}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}} \cdot I_0(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^2x_2x_1}}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}})$$
(4.28)

From (4.28) and the fact that  $\tilde{g}_{\rm S,P} \sim \text{Exp}(1/\lambda_{\rm S,P})$ , we get

$$f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}(x_2,x_1) = \frac{1}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^2} e^{\frac{-(x_2+x_1)}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}}} I_0(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^2 x_2 x_1}}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}})$$
(4.29)

Combining (4.27), (4.29) and (4.10) into (4.26), we have

$$P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{S}|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= \int_{x_{1}=0}^{\infty} \int_{x_{2}=0}^{\frac{x_{1}}{\alpha}} (1 - e^{-\frac{Tx_{1}}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}})^{K-l} (e^{-\frac{Tx_{1}}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}})^{l}$$

$$\times \frac{\frac{1}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{S,P}^{2}}}{\frac{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}{T\lambda_{S,P}}} B(l + \frac{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}{T\lambda_{S,P}}, K-l+1)} dx_{2} dx_{1}$$

$$(4.30)$$

Now using the first-order Marcum Q-function  $Q_1(a,b) = \int_b^\infty x e^{-\frac{x^2+a^2}{2}} I_0(ax) dx$  [76], we can simplify (4.30) to (4.31).

$$P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{S}|c(\mathcal{D}) = l) =$$

$$\int_{x_{1}=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - e^{-\frac{Tx_{1}}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}})^{K-l}(e^{-\frac{Tx_{1}}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}})^{l}}{\frac{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}{T\lambda_{S,P}}} B(l + \frac{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}{T\lambda_{S,P}}, K - l + 1)} \frac{1}{\lambda_{S,P}} e^{-\frac{x_{1}}{\lambda_{S,P}}}$$

$$\times [1 - Q_{1}(\sqrt{\frac{2\rho^{2}x_{1}}{(1 - \rho^{2})\lambda_{S,P}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2x_{1}}{(1 - \rho^{2})\alpha\lambda_{S,P}}})]dx_{1} \qquad (4.31)$$

Next we evaluate  $P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_R | c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$ . Clearly when there is no relay for retransmission (l = 0), no interference occurs from the SU relays. Then we have

$$P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_R|c(\mathcal{D})=0) = 1 \tag{4.32}$$

For l > 0,  $P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_R | c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$  is derived in Appendix G. Now using (4.10), (4.31) and (6.30) in (4.24), and using z instead of  $x_1$  we get the interference probability

$$P_{int}$$

$$= 1 - \int_{z=0}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-\frac{Tz}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}})^{K} \frac{1}{\lambda_{S,P}} e^{-\frac{z}{\lambda_{S,P}}} [1 - Q_{1}(\sqrt{\frac{2\rho^{2}z}{(1 - \rho^{2})\lambda_{S,P}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2z}{(1 - \rho^{2})\alpha\lambda_{S,P}}})] dz$$
$$- \sum_{l=1}^{K} {K \choose l} \int_{z=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - e^{-\frac{Tz}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}})^{K-l} (e^{-\frac{Tz}{\alpha\bar{\gamma}_{S,R}\lambda_{S,R}}})^{l}}{\lambda_{S,P}} e^{-\frac{z}{\lambda_{S,P}}}$$
$$\times [1 - Q_{1}(\sqrt{\frac{2\rho^{2}z}{(1 - \rho^{2})\lambda_{S,P}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2z}{(1 - \rho^{2})\alpha\lambda_{S,P}}})] dz$$
$$\times \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} l(\frac{y\lambda_{R,P}}{x\lambda_{R,D} + y\lambda_{R,P}})^{l-1} \frac{1}{\lambda_{R,D}} e^{\frac{-y}{\lambda_{R,P}}} \frac{1}{\lambda_{R,P}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{R,P}}}$$
$$\times [1 - Q_{1}(\sqrt{\frac{2\rho^{2}x}{(1 - \rho^{2})\lambda_{R,P}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2x}{(1 - \rho^{2})\beta\lambda_{R,P}}})] dydx$$
(4.33)

We should note that when  $\rho = 1$ , there is no interference to the PU, i.e.,  $P_{int} = 0$ .

## 4.5 Numerical Results

In Figure 4.2 we show the relationship between outage probability and the distance between SU and PU for the case of K = 5 relays, target rate of C = 1 bps/Hz,  $\sigma_R^2 =$   $\sigma_{\rm D}^2 = 1$ , and the maximum interference tolerance power  $I_p = 10$  dB obtained from analysis and simulations. Let the distance between SU and PU be  $d = d_{\rm S,P} = d_{\rm R,P}$ , let  $d_{\rm S,R} = d_{\rm R,D} = d_0$ ,  $\eta = 3$ . The values of power margin factors  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  ( $\alpha = \beta$ ) are chosen so that  $P_{int} = 0.1$ . As expected, larger distances between SU and PU lead to lower outage probabilities. This is because larger distances between SU and PU allow the SU (source and relay) to choose a larger transmit power and still satisfy the interference threshold. Also, as expected, larger values of  $\rho$  lead to lower outage probabilities. Since relay selection is based on the imperfect CSI, which is different from the CSI at retransmission time, as  $\rho$  increases, it is more likely that the selected relay is in fact the best relay. Finally the figure shows a close match between the results from analysis and simulation.



FIGURE 4.2. Outage Probability vs.  $d/d_0$  with K=5.

In Figure 4.3 we show the relationship between outage probability and the distance between SU and PU for the case of  $\rho = 0.99$ , for different number of relays K. The other parameters are the same as those in Figure 4.2. As expected larger number of relays K lead to lower outage probabilities. As the number of relays increases, the diversity in the system increases leading to improved outage probability. Again we see a close match between the results from simulation and analysis.



FIGURE 4.3. Outage Probability vs.  $d/d_0$  with  $\rho=0.99$ .

In Figure 4.4 we show the relationship between interference probability and the distance between SU and PU for the case of K = 5 relays, where  $\alpha = \beta$  is set so as to get a fixed outage probability of 0.05. The remaining parameters are the same as those in Figure 4.2. It can be seen that interference probability decreases with distance between SU and PU. This is due to the fact that larger distances between SU and PU would allow the SU to have smaller power margin factors  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  while still satisfying the required outage probability. Also, as expected larger values of coefficient  $\rho$  lead to lower interference probability, larger values of  $\rho$  lead to smaller  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Also, when  $\rho$  is larger, the value of the actual channel gain is closer to the outdated channel gain. Therefore, when actual channel gain is multiplied by the power margin factor, the probability that this product exceeds the outdated channel gain is smaller, leading to a lower interference probability.



FIGURE 4.4. Interference Probability vs.  $d/d_0$  with K=5.

Using the results in this chapter the systems parameters can be designed in order to guarantee that the desired interference and outage probabilities are satisfied. For example, for given interference and outage probabilities, from Figures such as 4.2 and 4.4 one can determine the minimum separation between the PU and the secondary network.

# Chapter 5 Hop-By-Hop Relay Selection in Multi-hop Relay Networks under Spectrum Sharing Constraint

### 5.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we introduce a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop underlay cognitive spectrum sharing systems. In each stage, relays that successfully decode the message from previous hop form a candidate set. Each relay in this candidate set calculates its available transmit power and evaluates its instantaneous SNR to relays in the next stage. Then one relay which has the largest number of channels with an acceptable SNR level to relays in the next stage is selected for retransmission. Therefore, relay selection is only based on the CSI of the channels of one hop. This strategy can be implemented in a distributed manner, and a CC is not required. We analyze the performance of the introduced strategy in terms of end-to-end outage probability, and show that the results match those obtained from simulation closely.

Notations: Our notations and some of our modeling assumptions for this chapter are introduced here. S, RC<sub>m</sub>, and D refer to source, relay cluster m, and destination, respectively.  $R_i^{(m)}$  denotes relay i in RC<sub>m</sub>. PU-Rx denotes the primary user (receiver).  $\mathcal{CN}(\mu, \sigma^2)$  denotes the circularly symmetric complex Gaussian distribution with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ .  $h_{A,B}^{(m)}$  and  $\gamma_{A,B}^{(m)}$  denote the instantaneous CSI and the instantaneous SNR of link A  $\rightarrow$  B of hop m, respectively, where  $h_{A,B}^{(m)} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \lambda_{A,B}^{(m)})$ . Letting  $g_{A,B}^{(m)} \triangleq |h_{A,B}^{(m)}|^2$ , then  $g_{A,B}^{(m)}$  is exponentially distributed with mean  $\lambda_{A,B}^{(m)}$ . We denote the transmit power of S by  $P_{\rm S}$ ,  $R_i^{(m)}$  by  $P_i^{(m)}$ , and the noise random variable at receiver B by  $n_{\rm B}$ . The noise variables at all receivers are assumed to be *iid* with  $n_{\rm B} \sim \mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_n^2)$ .

## 5.2 System Model

As shown in Figure 5.1, we consider a multi-hop underlay cognitive secondary network with the source S, the destination D, and M relay clusters ( $\mathrm{RC}_m$ ,  $m = 1, \dots, M$ ) in between the source and destination. Each relay cluster  $\mathrm{RC}_m$  includes  $L_m$  singleantenna half-duplex relay nodes. Message transmission from S to D is implemented indirectly with the help of the M relay clusters. Therefore, there are totally M + 1hops from S to D. We denote the first hop from S to  $\mathrm{RC}_1$  as hop 0,  $\mathrm{RC}_1$  to  $\mathrm{RC}_2$  as hop 1, and so on. A primary user receiver, PU-Rx, is also in the vicinity of the cooperative relay system and may experience interference from the source S and/or relays.



FIGURE 5.1. System Model of Multi-hop Underlay Spectrum Sharing Cognitive Relay Networks.

Transmissions of secondary network are allowed as long as the resulting interference at PU-Rx remains below a given threshold level. Let  $I_p$  denote the maximum interference power that PU-Rx can tolerate. It is required that the interference at PU-Rx does not exceed  $I_p$ . Therefore the transmit power at S,  $P_S$ , is limited by  $P_S g_{S,P}^{(0)} \leq I_p$ . Similarly, the transmit power at  $R_i^{(m)}$ ,  $P_i^{(m)}$ , is limited by  $P_i^{(m)} g_{i,P}^{(m)} \leq I_p$ . Also, the transmit power of each node is limited by a maximum transmit power  $P_{max}$ . Therefore, the transmit power at S is given as

$$P_{\rm S} = \min\{\frac{I_p}{g_{\rm S,P}^{(0)}}, P_{\rm max}\}$$
(5.1)

and the transmit power at  $\mathbf{R}_{i}^{(m)}$  is given as

$$P_i^{(m)} = \min\{\frac{I_p}{g_{i,P}^{(m)}}, P_{\max}\}$$
(5.2)

The instantaneous SNR of link  $A \to B$  at hop m is given by

$$\gamma_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} = P_{\rm A}^{(m)} |h_{\rm A,B}^{(m)}|^2 / \sigma_n^2 = P_{\rm A}^{(m)} g_{\rm A,B}^{(m)} / \sigma_n^2, \tag{5.3}$$

Reactive DF relaying scheme is used where in each relay cluster a single relay is selected for retransmission. The proposed path selection strategy is as follows. At the first hop, S estimates its channel coefficient to PU-Rx and determines its transmit power  $P_{\rm S}$  according to (5.1). Then S broadcasts its signal to RC<sub>1</sub>. In any stage  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1$  the relays in  $RC_m$  which are able to correctly decode the received signal from previous stage form a decoding set denoted by  $\mathcal{D}_m$ . The decoding set, defined formally later in (5.5), consists of all those relays whose SNR exceeds a predefined threshold T, which is the minimum required SNR for successful decoding of the message. Each relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  estimates its channel coefficient to PU-Rx, as well as the channel coefficients from itself to all the relays in  $RC_{m+1}$ . The transmit power  $P_i^{(m)}$  is determined based on (5.2), and the corresponding instantaneous SNR to each relays in  $RC_{m+1}$  is calculated from (5.3). The calculated instantaneous SNR of each link is compared to the SNR threshold T. For  $\mathbf{R}_i^{(m)}$  in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , let  $N_i^{(m)}$  denote the number of channels to relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  for which the instantaneous SNR exceeds T.  $\mathrm{R}_{i}^{(m)}$  now starts a timer inversely proportional to  $N_i^{(m)}$ . The relay whose timer expires first, denoted by  $\mathbf{R}_{i^*}^{(m)} \in \mathcal{D}_m$ , will transmit<sup>1</sup>. This relay has the largest number of "good"

 $<sup>^{1}\</sup>mathrm{A}$  small randomization can be introduced into the timer to avoid collisions in the case of ties.
channels, i.e.,  $i^* = \arg \max_i N_i^{(m)}$ . All the other relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  hear this transmission and remain silent. We define

$$N_{\max}^{(m)} \triangleq \max\{N_i^{(m)}; i \in \mathcal{D}_m\}$$
(5.4)

We should point out that if  $N_{\max}^{(m)} = 0$ , then outage is declared. Finally in the last hop, the relay in  $\mathcal{D}_M$  which has the highest instantaneous SNR is selected for transmission to D. Note that this protocol can be implemented in a distributed manner and does not require a CC.

For any  $j = 1, 2, \dots, L_1$ , the instantaneous channel gain of  $S \to R_j^{(1)}$  denoted by  $g_{S,j}^{(0)}$ is exponentially distributed. We denote its mean by  $\lambda_{S,R}^{(0)}$ . In other words, we assume that the channels from S to all the relays in the first stage are *iid*. Similarly, the gains for the channels  $S \to PU$ -Rx,  $R_i^{(m)} \to R_j^{(m+1)}$ ,  $R_i^{(m)} \to PU$ -Rx,  $R_i^{(M)} \to D$  are denoted by  $g_{S,P}^{(0)}$ ,  $g_{i,j}^{(m)}$ ,  $g_{i,D}^{(m)}$ , respectively. These channel gains are all exponentially distributed and are assumed to have means  $\lambda_{S,P}^{(0)}$ ,  $\lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}$ ,  $\lambda_{R,P}^{(m)}$ ,  $\lambda_{R,D}^{(M)}$ , respectively.

#### 5.3 Outage Probability

Denote by C the required end-to-end spectral efficiency in bps/Hz. Then for  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M, \mathcal{D}_m$  consists of those relays whose link capacity from the previous stage exceeds C, i.e.

$$\mathcal{D}_{m} = \{j : \frac{1}{M+1} \log_{2}(1+\gamma_{i^{*},j}^{(m-1)}) \ge C\}$$
$$= \{j : \gamma_{i^{*},j}^{(m-1)} \ge 2^{(M+1)C} - 1\}$$
(5.5)

where  $\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(0)} \triangleq \gamma_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)}$  is the SNR from S to  $\mathrm{R}_j^{(1)}$ , and for  $m = 2, 3, \cdots, M$ ,  $\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m-1)}$  is the SNR from the selected relay  $\mathrm{R}_{i^*}^{(m-1)}$  in  $RC_{m-1}$  to  $\mathrm{R}_j^{(m)}$ . Then the SNR threshold T is defined as  $T \triangleq 2^{(M+1)C} - 1$ .

For any hop  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1$ , the number of relays in  $\mathcal{D}_{m+1}$  is equal to  $N_{\max}^{(m)}$ . Let  $c(\mathcal{D}_n)$  denote the cardinality of the set  $\mathcal{D}_n$ , and let  $\mathcal{O}_n = \{c(\mathcal{D}_n) = 0\}$ , i.e.,  $\mathcal{O}_n$  is the event that no relay in the *n*th cluster can decode the message, and  $\mathcal{O}_{M+1}$  is the event that D cannot decode the message. Then for the end-to-end outage event  $\mathcal{O}$  we can write

$$P(\mathcal{O}) = P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n)$$

$$= \sum_{l_1=0}^{L_1} P(\bigcup_{n=1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$$

$$= P(\mathcal{O}_1) + \sum_{l_1=1}^{L_1} P(\bigcup_{n=2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1) P(c(\mathcal{D}_1) = l_1)$$
(5.6)

 $P(\mathcal{O}_1)$  is the probability that no relays in RC<sub>1</sub> can successfully decode the message transmitted from S and can be calculated as follows.

$$\begin{split} &P(\mathcal{O}_{1}) \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} P(\mathcal{O}_{1}|g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)} = x) f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(x) dx \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} P(\max_{j\in\mathrm{RC}_{1}}\{\gamma_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)}\} < T|g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)} = x) f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(x) dx \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}} P(\max_{j\in\mathrm{RC}_{1}}\{\frac{P_{\mathrm{max}}g_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)}}{\sigma_{n}^{2}}\} < T|g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)} = x) f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(x) dx \\ &+ \int_{\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}} P(\max_{j\in\mathrm{RC}_{1}}\{\frac{I_{p}g_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)}}{\sigma_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{2}}\} < T|g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)} = x) f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(x) dx \\ &= [P(g_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)} < \frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T}{P_{\mathrm{max}}})]^{L_{1}} F_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}) + \int_{\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}}^{\infty} [P(g_{\mathrm{S},j}^{(0)} < \frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}Tx}{I_{p}})]^{L_{1}} \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}} dx \\ &= (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T}{P_{\mathrm{max}}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}})^{L_{1}}(1 - e^{-\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}) \\ &+ \sum_{k=0}^{L_{1}} \binom{L_{1}}{k}(-1)^{k} \frac{1}{\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}{I_{p}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}} + 1^{e^{-(\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}Tk}{I_{p}\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)})}\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}} \tag{5.7} \end{split}$$

Moreover, we can calculate the probability that there are  $l_1$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_1$  as

$$\begin{split} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{1}) = l_{1}) \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{1}) = l_{1} | g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)} = x) f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(x) dx \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\frac{l_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{1}) = l_{1} | g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)} = x) f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(x) dx \\ &+ \int_{\frac{l_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}}^{\infty} P(c(\mathcal{D}_{1}) = l_{1} | g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)} = x) f_{g_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}(x) dx \\ &= \binom{L_{1}}{l_{1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}})^{L_{1} - l_{1}} (e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}})^{l_{1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{l_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}) \\ &+ \int_{\frac{L_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}}^{\infty} \binom{L_{1}}{l_{1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}})^{L_{1} - l_{1}} (e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}})^{l_{1}} \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}} \\ &= \binom{L_{1}}{l_{1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}})^{L_{1} - l_{1}} (e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}}})^{l_{1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{l_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}})^{l_{1}} \\ &= \binom{L_{1}}{l_{1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}})^{L_{1} - l_{1}} (e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}}})^{l_{1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{l_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}}^{(0)}}})^{l_{1}} \\ &+ \binom{L_{1}}{l_{1}} \sum_{k=0}^{L_{1} - l_{1}} \binom{L_{1} - l_{1}}{k} (-1)^{k} \frac{1}{\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}^{(0)}(k+l_{1})}}{l_{p} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{R}}^{(0)}} + 1} e^{-\left[\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2} T \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}^{(0)}}(k+l_{1})}{l_{p} \lambda_{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{P}^{(0)}}}}\right] \frac{l_{p}}{l_{p}}}$$
(5.8)

We now evaluate  $P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  for any  $1 \le m < M$ . For  $1 \le l_m \le L_m$ , we have

$$P(\bigcup_{n=m+1}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
  
+ 
$$\sum_{l_{m+1}=1}^{L_{m+1}} P(\bigcup_{n=m+2}^{M+1} \mathcal{O}_n | c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1})$$
  
× 
$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$
(5.9)

Note that in the above

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = 0|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$$

Therefore we need to evaluate  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  and  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$ .

For  $m = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1$ ,  $P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$  is the probability that from any relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , the SNRs of all  $L_{m+1}$  links to the relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  are below the threshold T. For  $\mathbf{R}_i^{(m)} \in \mathcal{D}_m$ , similar to (5.7), the probability that the SNRs of all  $L_{m+1}$  links from this relay to the relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  are below the threshold T, can be calculated as

$$P(\max_{j \in RC_{m+1}} \{\gamma_{i,j}^{(m)}\} < T)$$

$$= (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_n^2 T}{P_{\max}\lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}}})^{L_{m+1}} (1 - e^{-\frac{I_p}{P_{\max}\lambda_{R,P}^{(m)}}})$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{L_{m+1}} {\binom{L_{m+1}}{k}} (-1)^k \frac{1}{\frac{\sigma_n^2 T \lambda_{R,P}^{(m)} k}{I_p \lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}}} + 1^{e^{-(\frac{\sigma_n^2 T k}{I_p \lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{R,P}^{(m)}})}} (5.10)$$

Moreover, for all relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , we have

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_{m}) = l_{m})$$

$$= P(\max_{i\in\mathcal{D}_{m},j\in RC_{m+1}} \{\gamma_{i,j}^{(m)}\} < T)$$

$$= \left[P(\max_{j\in RC_{m+1}} \{\gamma_{i,j}^{(m)}\} < T)\right]^{l_{m}}$$

$$= \left[(1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T}{P_{\max}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,R}}^{(m)}})^{L_{m+1}}(1 - e^{-\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\max}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}^{(m)}}}) + \sum_{k=0}^{L_{m+1}} {L_{m+1} \choose k}(-1)^{k} \frac{1}{\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T\lambda_{\mathrm{R,R}}^{(m)}k}{I_{p}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,R}}^{(m)}} + 1} e^{-(\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}Tk}{I_{p}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,R}}^{(m)}} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}^{(m)}})\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\max}}}\right]^{l_{m}}$$
(5.11)

For the last hop (when m = M), the probability that the link from  $\mathbf{R}_i^{(M)} \in \mathcal{D}_M$ , to destination D is in outage is given by

$$\begin{split} &P(\gamma_{i,\mathrm{D}}^{(M)} < T) \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}} P(\frac{P_{\mathrm{max}}g_{i,\mathrm{D}}^{(M)}}{\sigma_{n}^{2}} < T|g_{i,\mathrm{P}}^{(M)} = x) f_{g_{i,\mathrm{P}}^{(M)}}(x) dx \\ &+ \int_{\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}}^{\infty} P(\frac{I_{p}g_{i,\mathrm{D}}^{(M)}}{g_{i,\mathrm{P}}^{(M)}\sigma_{n}^{2}} < T|g_{i,\mathrm{P}}^{(M)} = x) f_{g_{i,\mathrm{P}}^{(M)}}(x) dx \\ &= (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T}{P_{\mathrm{max}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,\mathrm{D}}}^{(M)}})(1 - e^{-\frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,\mathrm{P}}}^{(M)}}) \\ &+ \sum_{k=0}^{1} \binom{1}{k} (-1)^{k} \frac{1}{\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T\lambda_{\mathrm{R,\mathrm{P}}}^{(M)}k}{I_{p}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,\mathrm{D}}}^{(M)}} + 1} e^{-(\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}Tk}{I_{p}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,\mathrm{D}}}^{(M)}} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,\mathrm{P}}}^{(M)}}) \frac{I_{p}}{P_{\mathrm{max}}}} \end{split}$$
(5.12)

Since in the last hop the relay with the highest SNR among all the  $l_M = c(\mathcal{D}_M)$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_M$  is selected for retransmission, outage occurs when the SNR of all these  $l_M$  links are below the threshold T. Therefore we have

$$P(\mathcal{O}_{M+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_{m}) = l_{M})$$

$$= \left[P(\gamma_{i,D}^{(M)} < T)\right]^{l_{M}}$$

$$= \left[(1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T}{P_{\max}\lambda_{R,D}^{(M)}}})(1 - e^{-\frac{l_{p}}{P_{\max}\lambda_{R,P}^{(M)}}})$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{1} {\binom{1}{k}}(-1)^{k} \frac{1}{\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}T\lambda_{R,P}^{(M)}k}{I_{p}\lambda_{R,D}^{(M)}}} + 1^{k} e^{-(\frac{\sigma_{n}^{2}Tk}{I_{p}\lambda_{R,D}^{(M)}} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{R,P}^{(M)}})\frac{l_{p}}{P_{\max}}}\right]^{l_{M}} (5.13)$$

Let  $A_w^{(m)}$  denote the event that from a relay in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , there are w channels to relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$  whose instantaneous SNRs are above the threshold T, and let  $B_w^{(m)} =$   $\bigcup_{w'=0}^{w-1} A_{w'}^{(m)}.$  Then we have

$$P(A_w^{(m)}) = {\binom{L_{m+1}}{w}} (1 - e^{-\frac{\sigma_n^2 T}{P_{\max}\lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}}})^{L_{m+1}-w} (e^{-\frac{\sigma_n^2 T}{P_{\max}\lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}}})^w (1 - e^{-\frac{I_p}{P_{\max}\lambda_{R,P}^{(m)}}}) + {\binom{L_{m+1}}{w}} \sum_{k=0}^{L_{m+1}-w} {\binom{L_{m+1}-w}{k}} (-1)^k \times \frac{1}{\frac{\sigma_n^2 T \lambda_{R,P}^{(m)}(k+w)}{I_p \lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}}} + 1 e^{-[\frac{\sigma_n^2 T(k+w)}{I_p \lambda_{R,R}^{(m)}} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{R,P}^{(m)}}]} \frac{I_p}{P_{\max}}$$
(5.14)

Also we have

$$P(B_w^{(m)}) = \sum_{w'=0}^{w-1} P(A_{w'}^{(m)})$$
(5.15)

To evaluate  $P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1} | c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m)$ , we note that this is the probability that  $l \ (1 \leq l \leq l_m)$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$  have  $l_{m+1}$  "good" channels<sup>2</sup> to relays in  $\mathrm{RC}_{m+1}$ , while the remaining  $l_m - l$  relays in  $\mathcal{D}_m$ , have fewer than  $l_{m+1}$  "good" channels. Therefore we can write

$$P(c(\mathcal{D}_{m+1}) = l_{m+1}|c(\mathcal{D}_m) = l_m) = \sum_{l=1}^{l_m} {\binom{l_m}{l}} \left[ P(A_{l_{m+1}}^{(m)}) \right]^l \left[ P(B_{l_{m+1}}^{(m)}) \right]^{l_m-l}$$
(5.16)

Finally by putting (5.7), (5.8), (5.11), (5.13)-(5.16) into (5.6), we get the outage probability of the proposed strategy.

#### 5.4 Numerical Results

In this section, we consider a four-hop relay network (M=3) for the case that  $\lambda_{S,R}^{(0)} = \lambda_{R,D}^{(M)} = \lambda_{R,R}^{(m)} = 1$ ,  $\lambda_{S,P}^{(0)} = \lambda_{R,P}^{(m)} = \frac{1}{8}$ ,  $\sigma_n^2 = 1$ , and a target rate of C = 2/(M+1) bps/Hz. We present our numerical results from analysis and compare to those obtained from simulation.

In Figure 5.2, all relay clusters have the same number of relays, which is 3. We can see that when  $P_{\text{max}}$  is small, the outage probability achieved for different values of the interference threshold  $I_p$  are nearly the same, and decreases as  $P_{\text{max}}$  increases. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Channels whose SNR exceed the threshold T.

reason is that for small values of  $P_{\text{max}}$ , the transmit power is mainly limited by  $P_{\text{max}}$ . As  $P_{\text{max}}$  increases, the transmit power becomes limited by the interference threshold  $I_p$ . Consequently the outage probabilities exhibit a floor level which is determined by and decreases with  $I_p$ .



FIGURE 5.2. Outage Probability vs.  $P_{\text{max}}$  with different maximum tolerance power  $I_p$ .

As discussed in Chapter 1, the optimal relay selection strategy in [33] is a centralized method for path selection in multi-hop networks without spectrum sharing. In order to compare our proposed method with this method we have extended this strategy to underlay spectrum sharing cognitive networks as follows. In addition to the CSI of all the links in the network, the limits of the transmit power of all relays are also calculated according to their channel coefficients to PU-Rx. Then using the CSIs and the transmit power limits, the CC computes the SNR of all the links. It then selects the end-to-end path which has the highest SNR bottleneck. We have simulated this scheme and show the results of its outage probability in Figure 5.2. It can be seen that the performance of the proposed method is very close to this "optimal" method. However, the complexity of the "optimal" method is significantly higher than the proposed method. In addition, since the CSI of all the links must be collected before path selection and transmission, the collected CSI may be significantly outdated. This would not only degrade the performance of the secondary user, but more importantly, may cause interference to the primary user well beyond the specified threshold. Finally, the figure shows a close match between the results from our analysis and simulation.

In Figure 5.3, we show the outage probability vs.  $P_{\text{max}}$  for different number relays per cluster where  $I_p = 10$  dB. In the case that  $L_1 = L_2 = L_3 = 1$ , there is a single relay in each stage which may retransmit the message. Therefore no relay selection strategy is involved. This is the same scenario studied previously by several authors including [63]. Clearly having more relays in the relay clusters substantially improves system performance in terms of outage probability. As in Figure 5.2, a floor is reached for each case as  $P_{\text{max}}$  increases, since the transmit power becomes limited by  $I_p$ .



FIGURE 5.3. Outage Probability vs.  $P_{\rm max}$  with different number of relays.

In Figure 5.4 we show the outage probability vs. interference threshold  $I_p$ . The number of relays in each cluster is 3. We can see that outage probability decreases as

the interference threshold  $I_p$  increases, and again reaches a floor level for large values of  $I_p$  where the transmit power is limited by  $P_{\text{max}}$ . Clearly, lower outage probability can be reached for larger values of  $P_{\text{max}}$ .



FIGURE 5.4. Outage Probability vs.  $I_p$  with different maximum transmit power  $P_{\rm max}.$ 

# Chapter 6 Conclusions

In this dissertation we analyze the performance of several relay selection strategies for multi-hop cooperative networks.

In Chapter 2, we analyze the performance of a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop DF cooperative relay networks. In each relay cluster, relays that successfully receive and decode the message from the previous hop form the candidate set for relaying, and the relay which has the highest channel gain to the next stage is selected for retransmission. Therefore in this method, a CC is not required, and relay selection of each relay cluster is only based on the CSI to the next hop. We evaluate the performance of this relay selection method in terms of end-to-end outage probability through analysis and simulation. It is shown that given the total number of relays for the entire network, unequal distribution of relays with more relays in the first and last relay clusters can significantly improve the performance. Moreover, this relay selection strategy is suitable for fast fading channels with a short coherence time, since each pair of relay selection and transmission is only based the CSI of the channels of one hop. Accurate approximations for the ergodic capacity and effective ergodic capacity of this relay selection strategy are also derived.

In Chapter 3, a novel hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop DF cooperative relay networks is proposed where relay selection at each hop is only based on the CSI to relays in the next stage. The implementation complexity and communication overhead of our method is significantly lower than the relay selection strategies that require a CC for the entire network. We analyze the performance of the proposed method in terms of end-to-end outage probability for the cases of perfect and imperfect CSI. Numerical results from analysis closely match those obtained from simulation, and show a major improvement compared to other relay selection strategies in the literature.

In Chapter 4, we consider cognitive relay networks with imperfect CSI under interference power constraints. Reactive DF and ORS scheme for data transmission of SU is considered. We investigate the performance of DF ORS scheme for cognitive relay networks. Two power margin factors are considered for SU source and SU relays respectively in order to lower interference probability from SU to PU. We derive the outage probability and interference probability. It is shown that larger distances between SU and PU, larger values of correlation coefficient, larger number of relays lead to lower outage probabilities.

In Chapter 5, we introduce a hop-by-hop relay selection strategy for multi-hop underlay cognitive spectrum sharing systems. In each stage, relays that successfully decode the message from previous hop form a candidate set for retransmission. Each relay in this candidate set calculates its available transmit power and evaluates its instantaneous SNR to relays in the next stage. Then the relay which has the largest number of channels with an acceptable SNR level to relays in the next stage is selected for retransmission. Therefore, relay selection in each stage replies only on the CSI of the channels in that stage and does not require the CSI of any other stage. This strategy can be implemented in a distributed manner without the need for any coordination among the relays or a central controller. We analyze the performance of the introduced strategy in terms of end-to-end outage probability, and show that the performance of this method is nearly optimal.

### Bibliography

- [1] D. Tse and P. Viswanath, *Fundamentals of Wireless Communication*. New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [2] A. Sendonaris, E. Erkip, and B. Aazhang, "User cooperation diversity. Part I. system description," *Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 1927–1938, 2003.
- [3] —, "User cooperation diversity. Part II. implementation aspects and performance analysis," *Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 1939–1948, 2003.
- [4] J. Laneman, D. Tse, and G. W. Wornell, "Cooperative diversity in wireless networks: Efficient protocols and outage behavior," *Information Theory, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 3062–3080, 2004.
- [5] A. Nosratinia, T. E. Hunter, and A. Hedayat, "Cooperative communication in wireless networks," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 42, no. 10, pp. 74–80, Oct 2004.
- [6] A. Goldsmith, S. A. Jafar, N. Jindal, and S. Vishwanath, "Capacity limits of mimo channels," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 684–702, June 2003.
- [7] H. Jafarkhani, Space-Time Coding: Theory and Practice, 1st ed. New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [8] E. C. V. D. Meulen, "Three-terminal communication channels," Advances in Applied Probability, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 120–154, 1971. [Online]. Available: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1426331
- [9] T. Cover and A. El Gamal, "Capacity theorems for the relay channel," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 572–584, Sep 1979.
- [10] K. J. R. Liu, A. K. Sadek, W. Su, and A. Kwasinski, *Cooperative Communications and Networking*. New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [11] R. U. Nabar, H. Bolcskei, and F. W. Kneubuhler, "Fading relay channels: performance limits and space-time signal design," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas* in Communications, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1099–1109, Aug 2004.
- [12] B. Rankov and A. Wittneben, "Spectral efficient protocols for half-duplex fading relay channels," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 379–389, February 2007.

- [13] K. Azarian, H. El Gamal, and P. Schniter, "On the achievable diversitymultiplexing tradeoff in half-duplex cooperative channels," *IEEE Transactions* on Information Theory, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 4152–4172, Dec 2005.
- [14] A. S. Avestimehr and D. N. C. Tse, "Outage capacity of the fading relay channel in the low-snr regime," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 1401–1415, April 2007.
- [15] F. A. Onat, A. Adinoyi, Y. Fan, H. Yanikomeroglu, J. S. Thompson, and I. D. Marsland, "Threshold selection for snr-based selective digital relaying in cooperative wireless networks," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 4226–4237, November 2008.
- [16] F. A. Onat, A. Adinoyi, Y. Fan, H. Yanikomeroglu, and J. S. Thompson, "Optimum threshold for snr-based selective digital relaying schemes in cooperative wireless networks," in 2007 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference, March 2007, pp. 969–974.
- [17] H. Chen, J. Liu, C. Zhai, and Y. Liu, "Performance of incremental-selective decode-and-forward relaying cooperative communications over rayleigh fading channels," in Wireless Communications Signal Processing, 2009. WCSP 2009. International Conference on, Nov 2009, pp. 1–5.
- [18] Z. Bai, J. Jia, C. X. Wang, and D. Yuan, "Performance analysis of snr-based incremental hybrid decode-amplify-forward cooperative relaying protocol," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 2094–2106, June 2015.
- [19] S. S. Ikki and M. H. Ahmed, "Performance analysis of incremental-relaying cooperative-diversity networks over rayleigh fading channels," *IET Communications*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 337–349, Feb 2011.
- [20] K. S. Hwang, Y. C. Ko, and M. S. Alouini, "Performance analysis of incremental opportunistic relaying over identically and non-identically distributed cooperative paths," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 1953–1961, April 2009.
- [21] Q. F. Zhou and F. C. M. Lau, "Two incremental relaying protocols for cooperative networks," *IET Communications*, vol. 2, no. 10, pp. 1272–1278, November 2008.
- [22] A. Bletsas, A. Khisti, D. Reed, and A. Lippman, "A simple cooperative diversity method based on network path selection," *Selected Areas in Communications*, *IEEE Journal on*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 659–672, 2006.
- [23] A. Bletsas, H. Shin, and M. Win, "Cooperative communications with outageoptimal opportunistic relaying," Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 3450–3460, 2007.

- [24] A. A. Bletsas, "Intelligent antenna sharing in cooperative diversity wireless networks," Ph.D. dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA, 2005, aAI0808741.
- [25] J. Vicario, A. Bel, J. Lopez-Salcedo, and G. Seco, "Opportunistic relay selection with outdated csi: outage probability and diversity analysis," *Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 2872–2876, 2009.
- [26] D. Michalopoulos, H. Suraweera, G. Karagiannidis, and R. Schober, "Amplifyand-forward relay selection with outdated channel state information," in *Global Telecommunications Conference (GLOBECOM 2010), 2010 IEEE*, 2010, pp. 1– 6.
- [27] M. Soysa, H. A. Suraweera, C. Tellambura, and H. K. Garg, "Partial and opportunistic relay selection with outdated channel estimates," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 840–850, March 2012.
- [28] M. Chen, T. C. K. Liu, and X. Dong, "Opportunistic multiple relay selection with outdated channel state information," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technol*ogy, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 1333–1345, March 2012.
- [29] S. Kim, S. Park, and D. Hong, "Performance analysis of opportunistic relaying scheme with outdated channel information," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 538–549, February 2013.
- [30] V. Genc, S. Murphy, Y. Yu, and J. Murphy, "Ieee 802.16j relay-based wireless access networks: an overview," *Wireless Communications*, *IEEE*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 56–63, October 2008.
- [31] M. O. Hasna and M. S. Alouini, "Outage probability of multihop transmission over nakagami fading channels," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 216–218, May 2003.
- [32] L. Yang, M. O. Hasna, and M. S. Alouini, "Average outage duration of multihop communication systems with regenerative relays," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1366–1371, July 2005.
- [33] B. Gui, L. Dai, and L. Cimini, "Routing strategies in multihop cooperative networks," Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 843– 855, Feb 2009.
- [34] F. Khan, F. Yilmaz, and M.-S. Alouini, "Generalized routing protocols for multihop relay networks," in Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference (IWCMC), 2011 7th International, July 2011, pp. 754–759.
- [35] F. Gao, B. Jiang, X. Gao, and X.-D. Zhang, "Superimposed training based channel estimation for ofdm modulated amplify-and-forward relay networks," *Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 2029–2039, July 2011.

- [36] L. He, Y.-C. Wu, S. Ma, T.-S. Ng, and H. Poor, "Superimposed training-based channel estimation and data detection for ofdm amplify-and-forward cooperative systems under high mobility," *Signal Processing, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 274–284, Jan 2012.
- [37] S. Abdallah and I. Psaromiligkos, "Semi-blind channel estimation with superimposed training for ofdm-based af two-way relaying," Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 2468–2467, May 2014.
- [38] B. Barua, M. Abolhasan, D. Franklin, and F. Safaei, "Outage probability of multihop relay networks," in Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference (IWCMC), 2013 9th International, July 2013, pp. 456–460.
- [39] B. Barua, F. Safaei, and M. Abolhasan, "On the outage of multihop parallel relay networks," in Vehicular Technology Conference Fall (VTC 2010-Fall), 2010 IEEE 72nd, Sept 2010, pp. 1–5.
- [40] E. D. N. 02-135, "Spectrum Policy Task Force Report," Federal Communications Commission, 2002.
- [41] FCC-04-113, "Unlicenced operation in the tv broadcast bands; additional spectrum for unlicensed devices below 900 mhz and in the 3 ghz band," *Federal Communications Commission*, Nov. 2004.
- [42] J. Mitola and J. Maguire, G.Q., "Cognitive radio: making software radios more personal," *Personal Communications, IEEE*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 13–18, 1999.
- [43] T. Yucek and H. Arslan, "A survey of spectrum sensing algorithms for cognitive radio applications," *Communications Surveys Tutorials, IEEE*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 116–130, 2009.
- [44] C. Cordeiro, K. Challapali, D. Birru, and N. Sai Shankar, "Ieee 802.22: the first worldwide wireless standard based on cognitive radios," in New Frontiers in Dynamic Spectrum Access Networks, 2005. DySPAN 2005. 2005 First IEEE International Symposium on, Nov 2005, pp. 328–337.
- [45] A. Goldsmith, S. Jafar, I. Maric, and S. Srinivasa, "Breaking spectrum gridlock with cognitive radios: An information theoretic perspective," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 894–914, 2009.
- [46] Q. Zhao and B. M. Sadler, "A survey of dynamic spectrum access," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 79–89, May 2007.
- [47] A. Ghasemi and E. S. Sousa, "Collaborative spectrum sensing for opportunistic access in fading environments," in *First IEEE International Symposium on New Frontiers in Dynamic Spectrum Access Networks*, 2005. DySPAN 2005., Nov 2005, pp. 131–136.

- [48] M. Naraghi-Pour and T. Ikuma, "Autocorrelation-based spectrum sensing for cognitive radios," Vehicular Technology, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 718 –733, 2010.
- [49] R. Zhang, T. Lim, Y.-C. Liang, and Y. Zeng, "Multi-antenna based spectrum sensing for cognitive radios: A GLRT approach," *Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 84–88, jan. 2010.
- [50] M. Orooji, R. Soosahabi, and M. Naraghi-Pour, "Blind spectrum sensing using antenna arrays and path correlation," *Vehicular Technology, IEEE Transactions* on, vol. 60, no. 8, pp. 3758–3767, oct. 2011.
- [51] A. Taherpour, M. Nasiri-Kenari, and S. Gazor, "Multiple antenna spectrum sensing in cognitive radios," Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 814 –823, feb. 2010.
- [52] I. F. Akyildiz, W.-Y. Lee, M. C. Vuran, and S. Mohanty, "Next generation/dynamic spectrum access/cognitive radio wireless networks: A survey," *Comput. Netw.*, vol. 50, no. 13, pp. 2127–2159, Sep. 2006. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.comnet.2006.05.001
- [53] L. Li, M. Pesavento, and A. Gershman, "On ergodic sum capacity of underlay cognitive broadcast channels," in *Personal Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC), 2010 IEEE 21st International Symposium on*, 2010, pp. 2710–2714.
- [54] N. Devroye, P. Mitran, and V. Tarokh, "Achievable rates in cognitive radio channels," *Information Theory, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 1813–1827, 2006.
- [55] Y. Guo, G. Kang, N. Zhang, W. Zhou, and P. Zhang, "Outage performance of relay-assisted cognitive-radio system under spectrum-sharing constraints," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 182–184, 2010.
- [56] J. Si, Z. Li, X. Chen, B. Hao, and Z. Liu, "On the performance of cognitive relay networks under primary user's outage constraint," *Communications Letters*, *IEEE*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 422–424, 2011.
- [57] T. Q. Duong, V. N. Q. Bao, and H. j. Zepernick, "Exact outage probability of cognitive af relaying with underlay spectrum sharing," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 47, no. 17, pp. 1001–1002, August 2011.
- [58] L. Luo, P. Zhang, G. Zhang, and J. Qin, "Outage performance for cognitive relay networks with underlay spectrum sharing," *Communications Letters, IEEE*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 710–712, 2011.
- [59] L. Li, X. Zhou, H. Xu, G. Li, D. Wang, and A. Soong, "Simplified relay selection and power allocation in cooperative cognitive radio systems," *Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 33–36, 2011.

- [60] P. Yang, L. Luo, and J. Qin, "Outage performance of cognitive relay networks with interference from primary user," *Communications Letters, IEEE*, vol. 16, no. 10, pp. 1695–1698, 2012.
- [61] K. J. Kim, T. Duong, and X.-N. Tran, "Performance analysis of cognitive spectrum-sharing single-carrier systems with relay selection," *Signal Processing*, *IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 6435–6449, 2012.
- [62] F. R. V. Guimares, D. B. da Costa, T. A. Tsiftsis, C. C. Cavalcante, and G. K. Karagiannidis, "Multiuser and multirelay cognitive radio networks under spectrum-sharing constraints," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 433–439, Jan 2014.
- [63] V. N. Q. Bao and T. Q. Duong, "Outage analysis of cognitive multihop networks under interference constraints," *IEICE transactions on communications*, vol. 95, no. 3, pp. 1019–1022, 2012.
- [64] A. Hyadi, M. Benjillali, M. S. Alouini, and D. B. da Costa, "Performance analysis of underlay cognitive multihop regenerative relaying systems with multiple primary receivers," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 6418–6429, December 2013.
- [65] P. S. Bithas and A. A. Rontogiannis, "Outage probability analysis of multihop cognitive networks under multiple primary users interference," in *European Wireless 2015; 21th European Wireless Conference; Proceedings of*, May 2015, pp. 1–5.
- [66] K. J. Kim, T. Q. Duong, T. A. Tsiftsis, and V. N. Q. Bao, "Cognitive multihop networks in spectrum sharing environment with multiple licensed users," in *Communications (ICC), 2013 IEEE International Conference on*, June 2013, pp. 2869–2873.
- [67] V. N. Q. Bao, T. T. Thanh, T. D. Nguyen, and T. D. Vu, "Spectrum sharingbased multi-hop decode-and-forward relay networks under interference constraints: Performance analysis and relay position optimization," *Journal of Communications and Networks*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 266–275, June 2013.
- [68] L. Musavian and S. Aissa, "Fundamental capacity limits of cognitive radio in fading environments with imperfect channel information," *Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, no. 11, pp. 3472–3480, 2009.
- [69] H. Suraweera, P. Smith, and M. Shafi, "Capacity limits and performance analysis of cognitive radio with imperfect channel knowledge," *Vehicular Technology*, *IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 1811–1822, 2010.
- [70] B. Zhong, Z. Zhang, X. Zhang, J. Wang, and K. Long, "Partial relay selection with fixed-gain relays and outdated csi in underlay cognitive networks," *Vehicular Technology, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 62, no. 9, pp. 4696–4701, 2013.

- [71] H. Kim, H. Wang, S. Lim, and D. Hong, "On the impact of outdated channel information on the capacity of secondary user in spectrum sharing environments," *Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 284–295, 2012.
- [72] S. Lee, M. Han, and D. Hong, "Average snr and ergodic capacity analysis for opportunistic dfrelaying with outage over rayleigh fading channels," Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 2807–2812, June 2009.
- [73] J. Vicario and C. Anton-Haro, "Analytical assessment of multi-user vs. spatial diversity trade-offs with delayed channel state information," *Communications Letters, IEEE*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 588–590, 2006.
- [74] W. C. Jakes and D. C. Cox, Eds., Microwave Mobile Communications. Wiley-IEEE Press, 1994.
- [75] R. Annavajjala and L. Milstein, "Performance analysis of linear diversitycombining schemes on rayleigh fading channels with binary signaling and gaussian weighting errors," Wireless Communications, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 2267–2278, Sept 2005.
- [76] A. H. Nuttall, "Some integrals involving the q-function," DTIC Document, Tech. Rep., 1972.
- [77] A. Jeffrey and D. Zwillinger, *Table of Integrals, Series, and Products*, ser. Table of Integrals, Series, and Products Series. Elsevier Science, 2007.

# Appendix A: Proof of Lemma 1

$$P(X_{1 \sim n} < y | X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} < y, X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max} | X_{1 \sim n} < y) P(X_{1 \sim n} < y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{[1 - nP(X_1 = X_{max} | X_{1 \sim n} < y)] P(X_{1 \sim n} < y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{[1 - \frac{nP(X_1 = X_{max}, X_{1 \sim n} < y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}] P(X_{1 \sim n} < y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} < y) - nP(X_{1 \sim n} < y | X_1 = X_{max}) P(X_1 = X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} < y) - \frac{n}{N} P(X_{1 \sim n} < y | X_1 = X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} < y) - \frac{n}{N} P(X_{1 \sim n} < y | X_1 = X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$
(6.1)

# Appendix B: Proof of Lemma 3

$$P(X_{1 \sim n} > y | X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} > y, X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max} | X_{1 \sim n} > y)P(X_{1 \sim n} > y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{[1 - nP(X_n = X_{max} | X_{1 \sim n} > y)]P(X_{1 \sim n} > y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{[1 - \frac{nP(X_n = X_{max}, X_{1 \sim n} > y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}]P(X_{1 \sim n} > y)}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} > y) - nP(X_{1 \sim n} > y | X_n = X_{max})P(X_n = X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} > y) - \frac{n}{N}P(X_{1 \sim n-1} > y | X_n = X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1 \sim n} > y) - \frac{n}{N}P(X_{1 \sim n-1} > y | X_{1 \sim n-1} \neq X_{max})}{P(X_{1 \sim n} \neq X_{max})}$$
(6.2)

# Appendix C: Proof of Lemma 5

$$P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y|X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y, X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{1}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max})} \times [P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} \neq X_{max}|X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)$$

$$\times P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)]$$

$$= \frac{[1 - nP(X_{n} = X_{max}|X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)]P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)]P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)}$$

$$= \frac{[1 - \frac{nP(X_{n} = X_{max}|X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)]P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{1}{P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)} - nP(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y)|X_{1\sim n} = X_{max})P(X_{n} = X_{max})]}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1\sim n} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y) - \frac{n}{n}P(X_{1\sim n-1} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y|X_{n} = X_{max})}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < X_{max})}$$

$$= \frac{P(X_{1\sim n-1} > y, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < y|X_{1\sim n-1} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < X_{max})}{P(X_{1\sim n} \neq X_{max}, X_{N_{a}+1\sim N_{b}} < X_{max})}$$
(6.3)

### Appendix D: Proof of Lemma 6

We know that

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T) = \frac{P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)}{P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)}$$
(6.4)

in which

$$P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T) = 1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}$$
 (6.5)

Now consider  $P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)$ . According to [73],  $g_{i^*,j}^{(m)}$  conditioned on its estimate,  $\tilde{g}_{i^*,j}^{(m)}$ , follows a non-central chi-square distribution with 2 degrees of freedom. We have

$$\begin{split} &P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T) \\ &= P(g_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < \frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}, \tilde{g}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < \frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}) \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} \int_{y=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} f_{g_{i^*,j}^{(m)}, \tilde{g}_{i^*,j}^{(m)}}(x, y) dx dy \\ &= \int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} \int_{y=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} \frac{1}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m^2} e^{\frac{-(x+y)}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}} I_0(\frac{2\rho\sqrt{xy}}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}) dx dy \\ &= \frac{1}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m^2} \int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{x}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}} [\int_{y=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{y}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}} I_0(\frac{2\rho\sqrt{xy}}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}) dy] dx \end{split}$$
(6.6)

where  $I_0(\cdot)$  is the zero-order modified Bessel function of the first kind. Letting  $z = \sqrt{y}$ , and according to Eq. (10) in [76], we get

$$\int_{y=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{y}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}} I_{0}(\frac{2\rho\sqrt{xy}}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}) dy$$

$$= 2 \int_{z=0}^{\sqrt{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}}} z e^{-\frac{z^{2}}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}} I_{0}(\frac{2\rho\sqrt{x}}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}z) dz$$

$$= (1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m} e^{\frac{\rho^{2}x}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}} [1-Q_{1}(\rho\sqrt{\frac{2x}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{\bar{\gamma}(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}})]$$
(6.7)

where  $Q_1(a,b) = \int_b^\infty x e^{-\frac{x^2+a^2}{2}} I_0(ax) dx$  is the first-order Marcum Q-function [76]. Now putting (6.7) into (6.6), we have

$$\begin{split} P(\gamma_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^{*},j}^{(m)} < T) \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda_{m}} \int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_{m}}} [1 - Q_{1}(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2x}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{\bar{\gamma}(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}})] dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda_{m}} [\int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_{m}}} dx - \int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_{m}}} Q_{1}(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2x}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{\bar{\gamma}(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}}) dx] \\ &= 1 - e^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_{m}}} - \frac{1}{\lambda_{m}} \int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_{m}}} Q_{1}(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2x}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{\bar{\gamma}(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{m}}}) dx \end{split}$$
(6.8)

By letting  $y = \sqrt{x}$ , and according to Eq. (37) in [76], we get

$$\int_{x=0}^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}} e^{-\frac{x}{\lambda_m}} Q_1(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2x}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{\bar{\gamma}(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}}) dx$$

$$= 2 \int_{y=0}^{\sqrt{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}}}} y e^{-\frac{y^2}{\lambda_m}} Q_1(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2}{(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}}y, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{\bar{\gamma}(1-\rho^2)\lambda_m}}) dy$$

$$= \lambda_m e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}} [Q_1(\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \rho \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})$$

$$- Q_1(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})]$$
(6.9)

Now putting (6.9) into (6.8), we have

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)$$

$$= 1 - e^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}$$

$$- e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}} [Q_1(\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})$$

$$- Q_1(\rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})]$$
(6.10)

Here we note that when  $\rho = 1$ , (6.10) reduces to

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T) = 1 - e^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}$$
(6.11)

which follows the exponential distribution and agrees with the case of perfect CSI. On the other hand when  $\rho = 0$ , (6.10) reduces to

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T) = (1 - e^{\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})^2$$
(6.12)

which corresponds to the case that  $\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)}$  and  $\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)}$  are independent. Putting (6.5) and (6.10) into (6.4), we get

$$P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)$$

$$= 1 - \frac{e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}} [Q_1(\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}) - Q_1(\rho\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1-\rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}})]}{1 - e^{-\frac{T}{\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}}$$
(6.13)

# Appendix E: Proof of Lemma 7

$$\begin{split} P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T) \\ &= \frac{P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T)}{P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T)} \\ &= \frac{P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T | \gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T) P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)}{P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T)} \\ &= \frac{[1 - P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T | \gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)] P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)}{P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T)} \\ &= \frac{P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T) - P(\gamma_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T, \tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} < T)}{P(\tilde{\gamma}_{i^*,j}^{(m)} > T)} \\ &= Q_1(\sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1 - \rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \rho \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1 - \rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}) - Q_1(\rho \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1 - \rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}, \sqrt{\frac{2T}{(1 - \rho^2)\bar{\gamma}\lambda_m}}) \end{split}$$
(6.14)

# Appendix F: Derivation of Equation (4.18) - (4.19)

$$P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= P(\gamma_{R(i),D} < T|A_i(l))$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} P[\gamma_{R(i),D} < T|A_i(l), \tilde{g}_{R(i),D} = y, \tilde{g}_{R(i),P} = x]$$

$$\times f_{\tilde{g}_{R(i),D},\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}(y, x|A_i(l)) \ dydx \qquad (6.15)$$

The distribution of  $g_{R(i),D}$  conditioned on  $\tilde{g}_{R(i),D}$ , follows a non-central chi-square distribution with 2 degrees of freedom [73]. Thus

$$f_{g_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}|\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}}(x_{2}|x_{1}) = \frac{1}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} e^{\frac{-(x_{2}+\rho^{2}x_{1})}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}} \cdot I_{0}(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^{2}x_{2}x_{1}}}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}})$$
(6.16)

Then we have

$$f_{\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}|\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}},\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}}(z|A_{i}(l),\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}=y,\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}=x)$$

$$=\frac{xe^{\frac{-(\frac{xz}{\beta\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}+\rho^{2}y)}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}}}{\beta\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}I_{0}(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^{2}xyz}}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}})$$
(6.17)

From (6.17) we get

$$P(\gamma_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} < T | A_{i}(l), \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} = y, \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} = x)$$
  
= 
$$\int_{z=0}^{T} \frac{x}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} (1-\rho^{2}) \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} e^{\frac{-(\frac{xz}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} + \rho^{2}y)}{(1-\rho^{2}) \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}} I_{0}(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^{2}xyz}}{(1-\rho^{2}) \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}) dz$$
(6.18)

In order to compute of  $f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}},\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}}(y,x|A_i(l))$  we note that

$$f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}},\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}}(y,x|A_{i}(l))$$

$$= \lim_{\Delta \to 0} \frac{P(\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \in [y,y+\Delta], \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} \in [x,x+\Delta]|A_{i}(l))}{\Delta^{2}}$$

$$= \lim_{\Delta \to 0} \frac{P(A_{i}(l)|\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \in [y,y+\Delta], \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} \in [x,x+\Delta])}{P(A_{i}(l))\Delta^{2}}$$

$$\times P(\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \in [y,y+\Delta], \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} \in [x,x+\Delta])$$
(6.19)

It is easy to see that

$$P(\max_{k=1,\cdots,l \text{ and } k\neq i} \tilde{\gamma}_{\mathbf{R}(k),\mathbf{D}} \leq \beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathbf{R},\mathbf{D}} \frac{y}{x+\Delta})$$
  
$$\leq P(A_i(l)|\tilde{g}_{\mathbf{R}(i),\mathbf{D}} \in [y, y+\Delta], \tilde{g}_{\mathbf{R}(i),\mathbf{P}} \in [x, x+\Delta])$$
  
$$\leq P(\max_{k=1,\cdots,l \text{ and } k\neq i} \tilde{\gamma}_{\mathbf{R}(k),\mathbf{D}} \leq \beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathbf{R},\mathbf{D}} \frac{y+\Delta}{x})$$
(6.20)

When  $\Delta$  goes to zero, we get

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\Delta \to 0} P(A_i(l) | \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \in [y, y + \Delta], \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} \in [x, x + \Delta]) \\ &= P(\max_{k=1, \cdots, l \text{ and } k \neq i} \tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} \leq \beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} \frac{y}{x}) \\ &= [F_{\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}} (\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} \frac{y}{x})]^{l-1} \\ &= (\frac{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}} y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} x + \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}} y})^{l-1} \end{split}$$
(6.21)

And,

$$P(\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \in [y, y + \Delta], \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} \in [x, x + \Delta])$$

$$= P(\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \in [y, y + \Delta]) P(\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} \in [x, x + \Delta])$$

$$\approx f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}}(y) f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}}(x) \Delta^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}} e^{\frac{-y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}} \Delta^{2}$$
(6.22)

Then combining (6.21) and (6.22) into (6.19), we get

$$f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}},\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}}(y,x|A_{i}(l))$$

$$= l\left(\frac{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}x + \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}y}\right)^{l-1} \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}} e^{\frac{-y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}}$$
(6.23)

Finally combining (6.18) and (6.23) into (6.15), we get

$$P(outage|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{T} \frac{x}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} (1-\rho^2) \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} e^{\frac{-(\frac{xz}{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}} + \rho^2 y)}{(1-\rho^2) \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}}$$

$$\times I_0 (\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^2 xyz}}{(1-\rho^2) \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} \sqrt{\beta \bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}}) l(\frac{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}} y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} x + \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}} y})^{l-1}$$

$$\times \frac{1}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}} \lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{D}}}} e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R},\mathrm{P}}}} dz dy dx \qquad (6.24)$$

# Appendix G: Derivation of $P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_R | c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$ when l > 0

Assuming that  $c(\mathcal{D}) = l > 0$ , let  $i = \underset{k \in \mathcal{D}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \{\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}\}$ . The retransmit power  $P_{\mathrm{R}(i)}$ is given by  $P_{\mathrm{R}(i)} = \beta I_p / |\tilde{h}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}|^2$  and the interference power received at the PU from relay *i* is given by  $I_{\mathrm{R}(i)} = P_{\mathrm{R}(i)} |h_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}}|^2$ . Then

$$I_{\rm R(i)} = \frac{\beta I_p |h_{\rm R(i),P}|^2}{|\tilde{h}_{\rm R(i),P}|^2} = \frac{\beta I_p g_{\rm R(i),P}}{\tilde{g}_{\rm R(i),P}}$$
(6.25)

Given that relay *i* is retransmitting, there will not be any interference to PU if  $I_{R(i)} \leq I_p$ , or  $\beta g_{R(i),P} \leq \tilde{g}_{R(i),P}$ . Therefore<sup>1</sup>,

$$P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{R}|c(\mathcal{D}) = l) = \sum_{i=1}^{l} P(g_{R(i),P} < \frac{\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}{\beta} | A_{i}(l)) P(A_{i}(l))$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{l} \sum_{i=1}^{l} P(g_{R(i),P} < \frac{\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}{\beta} | A_{i}(l))$$
  
$$= P(g_{R(i),P} < \frac{\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}{\beta} | A_{i}(l))$$
(6.26)

where the last equality follows from the fact that all the relay channels are *iid*. Now (6.26) is calculated as

$$P(g_{R(i),P} < \frac{\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}{\beta} | A_{i}(l))$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{\frac{x}{\beta}} f_{g_{R(i),P}\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}(z, x | A_{i}(l)) dz dx$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{\frac{x}{\beta}} \frac{P(A_{i}(l) | g_{R(i),P} = z, \tilde{g}_{R(i),P} = x) f_{g_{R(i),P}\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}(z, x)}{P(A_{i}(l))} dz dx$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{\frac{x}{\beta}} lP(A_{i}(l) | \tilde{g}_{R(i),P} = x) f_{g_{R(i),P}\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}(z, x) dz dx$$
(6.27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Please see Remark 8.

in which  $P(A_i(l)|\tilde{g}_{\mathbf{R}(i),\mathbf{P}} = x)$  is evaluated as

$$P(A_{i}(l)|\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} = x)$$

$$= P(\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \geq \max_{k \in \mathcal{D}, \ k \neq i} \{\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}\} |\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} = x)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} P(\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} \geq \max_{k \in \mathcal{D}, \ k \neq i} \{\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}\} |\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{P}} = x, \tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}} = y) f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}}(y) \ dy$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} P(\max_{k \in \mathcal{D}, \ k \neq i} \{\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}}\} \leq \frac{\beta I_{p} y}{\sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^{2} x}) \ f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}}(y) \ dy$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} P(\tilde{\gamma}_{\mathrm{R}(k),\mathrm{D}} \leq \frac{\beta I_{p} y}{\sigma_{\mathrm{D}}^{2} x})^{l-1} f_{\tilde{g}_{\mathrm{R}(i),\mathrm{D}}}(y) \ dy \tag{6.28}$$

Using (6.27) and (6.28) we get

$$P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{R}|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{\frac{x}{\beta}} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} lP(\tilde{\gamma}_{R(k),D} \leq \frac{\beta I_{p} y}{\sigma_{D}^{2} x})^{l-1} f_{\tilde{g}_{R(i),D}}(y)$$

$$\times f_{g_{R(i),P}\tilde{g}_{R(i),P}}(z,x) \, dy dz dx$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{z=0}^{\frac{x}{\beta}} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} l \left[ \frac{y \lambda_{R,P}}{x \lambda_{R,D} + y \lambda_{R,P}} \right]^{l-1} \frac{1}{\lambda_{R,D}} e^{\frac{-y}{\lambda_{R,D}}}$$

$$\times \frac{1}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{R,P}^{2}} e^{\frac{-(z+x)}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{R,P}}} I_{0}(\frac{2\sqrt{\rho^{2} z x}}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{R,P}})) dy dz dx \qquad (6.29)$$

Now using the first-order Marcum Q-function, we can simplify (6.29) to

$$P(\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{R}|c(\mathcal{D}) = l)$$

$$= \int_{x=0}^{\infty} \int_{y=0}^{\infty} l \left[ \frac{y\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}}{x\lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}} + y\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}} \right]^{l-1} \frac{e^{\frac{-y}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}}}}e^{\frac{-x}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}}}}{\lambda_{\mathrm{R,D}}\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}}$$

$$\times \left[ 1 - Q_{1}(\sqrt{\frac{2\rho^{2}x}{(1-\rho^{2})\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}}}, \sqrt{\frac{2x}{(1-\rho^{2})\beta\lambda_{\mathrm{R,P}}}}) \right] dydx \qquad (6.30)$$

### Appendix H: Permission to Use Copyrighted Materials

(

	Copyright Clearance Center	RightsLir	nk°	Home Create Help
	Requesting permission to reuse content from an IEEE publication	Title: Conference Proceedings: Author: Publisher:	Decode-and-Forward Relay Selection with Imperfect CSI i Cognitive Relay Networks 2014 IEEE Military Communications Conference Hui Sun; Mort Naraghi-Pour IEEE	n If you're a copyright.com user, you can login to RightsLink using your copyright.com credentials. Already a RightsLink user or want to <u>learn more?</u>
		Date: Copyright © 2014	6-8 Oct. 2014 4, IEEE	
Thesis / Dissertation Reuse				
The IEEE does not require individuals working on a thesis to obtain a formal reuse license, however, you may print out this statement to be used as a permission grant:				
Requirements to be followed when using any portion (e.g., figure, graph, table, or textual material) of an IEEE copyrighted paper in a thesis:				

1) In the case of textual material (e.g., using short quotes or referring to the work within these papers) users must give full credit to the original source (author, paper, publication) followed by the IEEE copyright line © 2011 IEEE.

2) In the case of illustrations or tabular material, we require that the copyright line © [Year of original publication] IEEE appear prominently with each reprinted figure and/or table.
3) If a substantial portion of the original paper is to be used, and if you are not the senior author, also

obtain the senior author's approval.

Requirements to be followed when using an entire IEEE copyrighted paper in a thesis:

1) The following IEEE copyright/ credit notice should be placed prominently in the references: © [year of original publication] IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from [author names, paper title, IEEE publication title, and month/year of publication]

 Only the accepted version of an IEEE copyrighted paper can be used when posting the paper or your thesis on-line.

3) In placing the thesis on the author's university website, please display the following message in a prominent place on the website: In reference to IEEE copyrighted material which is used with permission in this thesis, the IEEE does not endorse any of [university/educational entity's name goes here]'s products or services. Internal or personal use of this material is permitted. If interested in

reprinting/republishing IEEE copyrighted material for advertising or promotional purposes or for creating new collective works for resale or redistribution, please go to

http://www.ieee.org/publications\_standards/publications/rights/rights\_link.html to learn how to obtain a License from RightsLink.

If applicable, University Microfilms and/or ProQuest Library, or the Archives of Canada may supply single copies of the dissertation.



Copyright © 2016 <u>Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.</u> All Rights Reserved. <u>Privacy statement</u>. <u>Terms and Conditions</u>. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>

#### Vita

Hui Sun was born in Nanjing, China, in 1985. He received his B.S. degree in Communication Engineering from Nanjing University of Posts & Telecommunications, Nanjing, China in 2008. He received his M.S. degree in Communication & Information System from Nanjing University of Science & Technology, Nanjing, China in 2010, and M.S. degree in Electrical Engineering from Louisiana State University (LSU), Baton Rouge, USA in 2012, respectively. He has been working as a graduate assistant in Division of Electrical & Computer Engineering at LSU since 2011. Currently, he is pursuing his Ph.D. degree in Electrical Engineering at LSU. His current research interests include cooperative relay networks and cognitive radio networks.